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("Directa Plus", the "Company" or the "Group")

 
Final Results

 
Directa P lus  (AI M: D C TA), a  leading producer and suppl ier of graphene-based products  for use in consumer and industria l
markets , announces  i ts  final  results  for the year ended 31 December 2024.
 
Financial highlights
· P roduct sales  and service revenue at €6.66m (2023: €10.53m), impacted by temporary delays  in key

customer orders  and contract awards  in the Environmental  Remedia3on and Tex3les  divis ions,  as  wel l  as
the exit from some selected lower-margin contracts

· Total  income (including grants) at €6.83m (2023: €10.86m)
· Adjusted LB I TDA* increased by 42% to €3.64m (2023: €2.56m), driven by lower revenues, offset in part by

continued cost control  and improved production efficiencies
· Loss  before tax increased by 25% to €5.37m (2023: €4.31m)
· Reported (bas ic) Loss  per share stable at €0.06 (2023: €0.06)
· Cash and cash equivalents  at year end of €4.98m (2023: €2.39m), s ignificantly strengthened by the capital

ra ise completed in June 2024
· Total  patents  granted at year end of 106 (2023: 86)

 
* Adjusted EBITDA loss represents results from operating activities before tax, interest, depreciation and
amortisation, adjusted by one-off expenses, one-off provisions, inventory write-offs, non-recurring legal
expenses and onerous contract provision (details in the CFO statement).

 
Target market progress
Environmental Remediation - 79% of revenue (2023: 69%)
· Acquired a further 49% stake in Setcar taking the Group's  holding to 99.95%, fol lowing which Directa P lus

has  appointed a new board and general  manager, and has  set about s ignificantly improving opera3onal
efficiencies  within Setcar

· Post period, secured a number of new contract wins  and renewals , including a  further renewal  with FO R D
Otosan and a new contract s igned with MIDIA International

· Resumed ac3vi3es  with O M V Petrom for the decontamina3on of s ludges  us ing Grafysorber® and s igned a
€1.6 mi l l ion contract extens ion post period end in Apri l  2025

 
Textiles - 20% of revenue (2023: 30%)
· The European tex3le market con3nued to be chal lenged by weaker consumer spending, resul3ng in a

s lowdown in revenues, a l though there are some s igns  of a  recovery, supported by  a  stabi l i sa3on in
inflation

· Con3nued to work with major workwear, defence and fashion brands, seeing growing demand for the
Group's  technical  product enhancements  global ly and increas ing interest for the properties  of G+ graphene

 
Operational updates
· Secured c. €0.5 mi l l ion of targeted annual ised cost savings  across  the Group, which wi l l  be reflected in

FY2025
· Compe33ve pos i3on improved with enhancements  to the produc3on l ine, including replacing argon gas  for

nitrogen gas , providing s igni ficant cost savings  and environmental  benefi ts
· Renewed produc3on team, now working on a remodel l ing of the produc3on l ine a imed at further increas ing

productivi ty and ensuring greater operational  flexibi l i ty at lower direct production costs

· R&D capabi l i ties  strengthened to better a l ign with evolving market needs and to drive innovation

 
Outlook
· Trading in Q 1 F Y2025 has  been robust, with revenues of approximately €2 mi l l ion, up c. 40% on the same

period in 2024, primari ly driven by several  contract renewals  across  the Environmental  and Tex3les
divis ions, including with Grass i , Ford Otosan, Cummins  and Metchem

· Current order book stands  at approximately €7 mi l l ion for F Y2025, supported further by a  good pipel ine of
opportunities

· Setcar i s  progress ing wel l , with an ini3al  agreement with Midia I nterna3onal  SA, worth up to 1.5 mi l l ion,
s igned in February 2025, and a €1.59 mi l l ion contract extens ion with O M V Petrom, for the use of Directa
Plus 's  patented Grafysorber® technology to treat oi l  s ludges, emuls ions, and contaminated water

· Momentum bui lding with new contract wins  and renewals , and a clear focus  on reducing the Group's  cost
structure. The Board is  confident in achieving results  for FY25 in l ine with market expectations

 
Giulio Cesareo, Founder & C EO  of Directa P lus, said: "Good strategic progress was made in the year to offset challenges
presented by some contract delays and external pressures and strengthen the Group, laying the groundwork for sustainable
future growth. The success of our strategy is seen in the momentum which picked up towards the end of the year, with a number
of new contract wins and renewals secured, supported by a growing pipeline, providing confidence in achieving results for F Y25
in line with market expecta6ons. The Group is well-posi6oned to capitalise on future opportuni6es as market condi6ons
stabilise."
 
For further information please vis i t http://www.directa-plus .com/ or contact:
 

Directa Plus plc +39 02 36714458
Giul io Cesareo, CEO
Giorgio Bonfanti , CFO

http://www.directa-plus.com/


Giorgio Bonfanti , CFO

Singer Capital Markets +44 20 7496 3069
Rick Thompson
Phi l  Davies

Alma Strategic Communications +44 20 3405 0205
Justin James
Hannah Campbel l
Kinvara Verdon

directaplus@almastrategic.com

 
About Directa Plus

Directa Plus (www.directa-plus.com) is one of the largest producers and suppliers of graphene-based products
for use in consumer and industrial markets. The Company's graphene manufacturing capability uses
proprietary patented technology based on a plasma super expansion process. Star3ng from natural graphite,
each step of Directa Plus' produc3on process - expansion, exfolia3on and drying - creates graphene-based
materials and hybrid graphene materials ready for a variety of uses and available in various forms such as
powder, liquid and past
 
This proprietary produc3on process uses a physical process, rather than a chemical process, to process
graphite into pris3ne graphene nanoplatelets, which enables Directa Plus to offer a sustainable, non-toxic
product, without unwanted by-products. Directa Plus' products are made of hybrid graphene materials and
graphene nano-platelets. The products (marketed as G+®) have mul3ple applica3ons due to its proper3es.
These G+® products can be categorised into various families, with different products being suitable for
specific practical applications.
 
Directa Plus was established in 2005 and is based in Lomazzo (Como, Italy) and has been listed on the AIM
market of the London Stock Exchange since May 2016. The Company holds the Green Economy Mark from
London Stock Exchange which recognises companies that contribute to the global green economy.
 

 
Chairman's statement
 
F Y24 was a  chal lenging year for the Group. W hi lst we didn't meet our ini3al  revenue expecta3ons, due to short-term
headwinds, including delayed customer decis ion-making and geopol i3cal  uncertainty, which ul3mately extended 3mel ines
on the award of key contracts  across  the Environmental  Remedia3on and Tex3les  divis ions, we con3nued to make good
strategic progress . These headwinds  deferred contracts  into F Y25, resul3ng in product and service revenue of €6.7 mi l l ion
(2023: €10.5 mi l l ion) and adjusted LB I TDA of €3.6 mi l l ion (2023: €2.6 mi l l ion). The revenue decl ine was exacerbated also
by our decis ion during the year to cease s ignificant low margin service ac3vi3es  in favour of a  focus  on higher margin,
higher value-added services , including our Grafysorber® technology. 
 
During the year the team worked hard to del iver against our four strategic pi l lars  across  each of our key ver3cals . I n
par3cular, s trong progress  was  made in reducing produc3on costs  and streaml ining our opera3ons, and in reinforcing our
posi3on in key markets , such as  Environmental  Remedia3on and Tex3les . The Group has  now secured i ts  ini3al  target of
€0.5 mi l l ion of annual ised cost savings , which wi l l  be real ised in the current financial  year. I n addi3on, we have
establ ished a new produc3on team that is  now working on modifying our produc3on l ine, a imed at further increas ing
produc3vity and ensuring greater opera3onal  flexibi l i ty at s ignificantly lower direct produc3on costs , further  suppor3ng
the foundations  for future growth.
The year a lso saw the comple3on of a  successful  capital  ra ise and the acquis i3on of ful l  majori ty control  of Setcar, two
key developments  for the Group that wi l l  help accelerate our growth and unlock future shareholder value.
 
APer the headwinds  experienced in F Y24, i t i s  pleas ing to report that trading in F Y25 has  shown a strong recovery, with Q 1
revenues of approximately €2 mi l l ion, up c. 40% on the same period in 2024, primari ly driven by several  contract renewals
across  the Environmental  Remedia3on and Tex3les  divis ions, including with Grass i , Ford O tosan, Cummins  and Metchem.
The Group's  current order book is  healthy, providing improved vis ibi l i ty, and the Board is  confident of mee3ng F Y25 market
expectations.
 
Delivering on our strategy
 
We remain focused on del ivering across  the four pi l lars  of our growth strategy: a  unique, low-cost graphene produc3on
process; the manufacture of pris3ne graphene nanoplatelets  free of chemical  pol lutants  and tai lored to customers ' needs;
a reduced 3me to market for new products , benefiRng from considerable accumulated knowhow and strong I P ; and market
reach leveraged through careful ly assessed partnerships .
I n l ine with our strategy, the Group has  successful ly bui l t a  s ignificant pipel ine of opportuni3es  and tenders  across  a l l  i ts
verticals .
 
I n June 2024, we successful ly completed a £6.9m capital  ra ise to invest further in the del ivery of the Group's  strategic
growth plan, and to fund the €1.5 mi l l ion acquis i3on of the c. 49% minori ty holding in Setcar, bring our total  shareholding
in our environmental  services  subs idiary to 99.95%. I  would l ike to thank al l  shareholders  who par3cipated in the
fundraise for their support of the Group and the next phase of development.
 
S ince the acquis i3on, s ignificant improvements  have been implemented to beTer a l ign Setcar's  opera3ons with the Group's
strategy and culture, increase efficiency and to pos i3on the bus iness  to capture and del iver on the pipel ine of
environmental  opportunities  ahead.
 
The graphene market is  forecast to grow at pace in the coming years , with Fortune Bus iness  I ns ights  es3ma3ng the market
to reach over 5 bi l l ion by 2032. This  growth is  driven by increas ing demand for advanced materia ls  in industries  l ike
electronics , energy, and automo3ve and we bel ieve that Directa P lus  is  wel l  pos i3oned to capital ise on this  market
momentum.
 
Sustainability
 
Directa P lus 's  product is  chemical  free and involves  a  low energy consump3on produc3on process . As  bus inesses  across
al l  sectors  are progress ively turning towards  more sustainable solu3ons, our graphene technology can confer materia l
improvements  in the performance and sustainabi l i ty of our customers ' products . O ur Grafysorber® technology, which is
fast gaining trac3on, subs3tutes  for the use of oi l -based products  and can be advantageously appl ied to oi l  and chemical
decontamination, produced water and steel  mi l l  wastes .
 
 We have bui l t a  strong and dedicated team to drive the growth of the bus iness , and we recognise the value in suppor3ng



 We have bui l t a  strong and dedicated team to drive the growth of the bus iness , and we recognise the value in suppor3ng
our employees  to both maintain the ethos  of the bus iness  and achieve the best return on effort. The Board remains
commiTed to pursuing good corporate governance and understands  i ts  importance in promo3ng the long-term growth of
the bus iness .
 
CEO succession
 
The Group's  Founder and Chief Execu3ve O fficer, Giul io Cesareo, has  confirmed that he would l ike to step back from his
C EO  role, effec3ve by the 2026 AGM. Giul io has  been the driving force for the development of the Group s ince i ts  founda3on
in 2005, taking a  unique graphene produc3on process  from the drawing board to commercial isa3on, with s ignificant
recurring contracts  and future opportunity. The Board wi l l  be looking at appropriate success ion planning over the coming
12 months  and Board changes  to ensure that the Group is  able to con3nue to benefit from Giul io's  knowledge, exper3se
and customer contacts  into the future. Further announcements  wi l l  be made as  and when appropriate.
 
Summary and looking ahead
 
W hilst the Group's  financial  performance in F Y24 was lower than expected, the Group has  entered F Y2025 with renewed
op3mism and stronger trading as  we look to recover our growth path. The management team has  worked effec3vely to
ensure we have the right strategy and bui lding blocks  in place to capture the s ignificant opportuni3es  ahead and to del iver
value across  our growing network of partners  and customers.
Looking ahead, we remain commiTed to reducing our cost base and increased opera3onal  efficiencies , with priori3sa3on
being given to investments  directly l inked to short term returns. W ith the increased trac3on in graphene technology and i ts
appl ications  global ly, I  am confident we are wel l  placed within the market.
 

Richard Hickinbotham
Non-Executive Chairman
2 June 2025
 
 
 
Chief Executive Officer's statement 
 
F Y24 presented the Group with chal lenges  that the Board has  responded to by strengthening the Group and laying the
groundwork for sustainable future growth. As  a  result, we are more confident that Directa P lus  is  wel l -pos i3oned to
capital ise on future opportunities  as  market conditions  stabi l i se. 
 
O ur strategic shiP towards  priori3s ing higher margins  and value-added services  resulted in lower revenues in the year.
Alongs ide this , we con3nued to encounter opera3onal  chal lenges  and delays  in securing key contracts  within our
Environmental  Remedia3on and Tex3les  divis ions. These issues  carried over into the second hal f of the year, leading to
financial  performance for FY24 that was  below our ini tia l  expectations.
 
Despite external  pressures , we made tangible progress  in areas  core to our long-term strategy - from technology
deployment and opera3onal  streaml ining, to reinforcing our pos i3on in key markets  such as  Environmental  Remedia3on.
The successful  capital  ra ise and the ful l  acquis i3on of Setcar are two s ignificant mi lestones  that wi l l  help accelerate our
strategic agenda and unlock further value.
 
 As  part of strengthening the Group for future growth, we completed a £6.9m capital  ra ise in mid-2024 to support
investment in l ine with our strategic plan to accelerate the Group's  path to profitabi l i ty. S ince the ful l  acquis i3on of Setcar,
we have made cons iderable headway, securing opera3onal  efficiencies , including a  headcount reduc3on, and the
appointment of a  new subs idiary board. I mportantly we have also recruited a new General  Manager, who brings  over 15
years  engineering experience interna3onal ly and wi l l  play a  crucia l  role in ensuring Setcar i s  pos i3oned for growth
through improved focus  and leadership. I n l ine with this  reorganisa3on, there is  a  process  for further senior appointments
in place, including a  new Sales  Director, to strengthen commercial  capabi l i ties .
 
The capital  ra ise a lso provided funds for investments  to support the commercial isa3on of our G+ graphene, increase the
Group's  technical  and commercial  capabi l i3es , and improve our produc3on l ine to further reduce our produc3on costs .
We have addi3onal ly restructured the manufacturing and R&D teams in I ta ly, maximis ing the benefits  of Directa P lus '
technology and produc3on process  to del iver more effec3ve, scalable and customer-oriented solu3ons. Notably, the
replacement of argon gas  for ni trogen gas  in our produc3on l ine has  provided s ignificant cost efficiencies  and
environmental  benefi ts , as  i t i s  a  common energy source that can be generated internal ly.
  
Review of Operations 
 
Environmental Remediation (79% of revenue) 
The Environmental  Remedia3on divis ion is  underpinned by our unique Grafysorber® technology, which is  independently
proven to be five 3mes more effec3ve than comparable technologies . I t i s  a  hybrid-graphene solu3on for trea3ng
pol lutants , in par3cular water s ludges  and emuls ions  containing hydrocarbons, where i t can absorb and recover more
than 100 times i ts  own weight of oi l -based pol lutants . 
 
Al though performance was dampened in the year, in part due to a  focus  on higher margin, higher value services , a  series  of
important contract wins  and renewals  were secured. I n addi3on, specific project delays  and market uncertain3es  further
impacted the divis ion's  performance. The contract s igned in 2023 with Liberty Galați , Romania's  leading integrated steel
producer, has  progressed more s lowly than an3cipated due to the customer's  financial  difficul3es. The Romanian
government has  announced measures  to support Liberty Galați 's  s tabi l i sa3on, and we are closely monitoring the s i tua3on
to safeguard the successful  con3nua3on of the project. Furthermore, as  previous ly no3fied, a  major tender for a  €44
mil l ion two-year contract for a  s ignificant remedia3on project was  being sought by Setcar. This  tender has  not progressed
in the manner the Board were con3nual ly led to expect. The contract has  now been awarded to another party, under
circumstances  that are difficult to appropriately determine. W hi lst this  i s  very disappoin3ng aPer a l l  our cons iderable
efforts  and engagement, the outturn would appear to be in our best interests  as  a  publ ic company.
 
Nevertheless , a  series  of important contract wins  and renewals  during the period demonstrate the strong underlying
demand for our solu3ons. The Group's  environmental  remedia3on ac3vi3es  are primari ly carried out via  Setcar which
renewed i ts  contract with FO R D O tosan, a  Romanian automo3ve bus iness  owned by Ford Motor company, for the fiPh 3me
in the period for a  total  contract value of €1.9m. Post-period end Setcar secured a further renewal  forc. €1.1 mi l l ion for the
first hal f of the year to con3nue to del iver Total  Waste Management services , including waste disposal , transporta3on,
treatment, recycl ing, equipment, and personnel . 
 
Post-period end, Setcar a lso s igned an ini3al  1.5m agreement with Midia I nterna3onal  SA, to provide tank cleaning and
waste disposal  services  as  part of an offshore dri l l ing campaign in the Black Sea, specifical ly the Trident EX 30 block. The
project wi l l  involve the use of Directa P lus 's  proprietary Grafysorber® technology to treat the contaminated water and is
expected to commence in the second hal f of 2025.  
 
The Group also resumed i ts  ac3vi3es  with O M V Petrom for the decontamina3on of s ludges  us ing Grafysorber as  the



The Group also resumed i ts  ac3vi3es  with O M V Petrom for the decontamina3on of s ludges  us ing Grafysorber as  the
customer has  iden3fied a new area to decontaminate. I n recent years  we have treated c. 41,000 cubic meters  of emuls ions
generated by O M V Petrom, recovering c. 10,000 tons  of crude oi l  to be reinjected in their refineries , improving their overal l
opera3onal  efficiency. I n Apri l  2025 Setcar s igned a €1.59 mi l l ion contract extens ion agreement with O M V Petrom, for the
use of Directa P lus 's  patented Grafysorber® technology to treat oi l  s ludges, emuls ions, and contaminated water. This
contract extends the original  framework agreement, which commenced in 2021 and has  generated over €1.0 mi l l ion in
revenues to date, to 31 December 2026, ensuring the continuity of services  without interruption.
 
W ith the restructuring of Setcar, we con3nue to look for ways  to capture further opportuni3es  by leveraging our
proprietary environmental  remedia3on technology and to capital ise on the s ignificant market poten3al  that we expect to
materia l ise in the region.
 
Textiles (20% of revenue) 
The European tex3le market was  affected by weaker consumer spending in the current economic cl imate, which adversely
impacted our Tex3le divis ion resul3ng in a  s lowdown in revenues. I n paral lel , we have also experienced a temporary
s lowdown in sales  to a  major workwear cl ient during the year that are now expected to rebui ld in 2025. Nonetheless , we
con3nue to experience strong demand for our technical  product enhancements  global ly and see poten3al  to deepen our
presence in the luxury tex3le market and further develop opportuni3es  in defence and workwear appl ica3ons, for which
our technology plays  a  key role. W hi lst the European tex3le market remains  chal lenging, there are s igns  of a  poten3al
recovery later in 2025, supported by a  stabi l i sa3on in infla3on and interna3onal  markets . Addi3onal ly, the growing focus
on sustainabi l i ty and ci rcular economy regula3ons presents  opportuni3es  for companies  inves3ng in innova3on and
responsible produc3on. Against this  backdrop, we remain commiTed to op3mis ing our opera3ons and leveraging market
trends  to strengthen our commercial  pos ition.
 
We work with major fashion brands and are seeing increas ing interest for the thermal  conduc3vity and an3microbial
proper3es  of our G+ graphene in high technology electronic appl ica3ons. I n March 2024, we secured a contract with
Heathcoat Fabrics  in the UK , a  manufacturer of advanced kniTed and woven fabrics , which involves  the integra3on of our
G+ P lanar Thermal  C ircuit technology into i ts  porZol io to provide thermal  diss ipa3on. We con3nue to work with luxury
brands across  workwear and shoes  in Europe and the US as  wel l  as  defence wear in South America, with several  open
discuss ions  taking place in North America and Turkey for our products .
 
Additional industry verticals (1% of revenue) 
W hi lst we see increas ing opportuni3es  across  our ver3cals , the Group is  focused on tangible opportuni3es  that provide
near-term value, which predominately arise in verticals  such as  asphalts  and batteries .  
 
Gi Pave, developed in conjunc3on with I terchimica, has  had success  in the asphalts  market. Gi Pave is  a  G+ graphene-based
technology that provides  s ignificant improvements  to road durabi l i ty and a s ignificantly reduced carbon footprint. I n the
period, Gi Pave was used in the I mola C ircuit for the Emi l ia-Romagna Grand P rix in May 2024 as  part of the Formula 1
World Championship, making i t the first ci rcuit to feature green, sustainable and high-tech asphalt u3l is ing graphene and
recycled plastics . GiPave was a lso chosen for an extens ive resurfacing operation in Rome, ahead of the 2025 Jubi lee.  
 
We are currently col labora3ng with Nant G Power, a  company owned by one of our cornerstone shareholders , which
special ises  in the research, development, and later manufacturing and sale of next-genera3on l i thium-ion baTeries . We
are suppor3ng Nant by providing G+ technology as  a  key component and sharing our exper3se to help bui ld coin cel ls  and
s ingle-layer pouch cel l  prototypes  for lab-scale materia l  tes3ng and product development, with a  focus  on the I ta l ian and
EU markets . 
 
I n paral lel , we con3nue to invest in R&D to further adapt and refine our G+ technology for addi3onal  appl ica3on areas
such as  elastomers , paints , cements  and air fil tra3on systems. Across  these ver3cals , we have achieved promis ing
val ida3ons at various  levels  and stages, confirming the effec3veness  of our solu3ons. O ur efforts  are now focused on
accelerating adoption by industria l  partners  and progress ing towards  broader market commercial isation.
 
Operational
At the Lomazzo plant, we have renewed our produc3on team, which is  currently working on a remodel l ing of the produc3on
l ine aimed at increas ing produc3vity and ensuring greater opera3onal  flexibi l i ty at much lower direct produc3on costs . I n
paral lel , we have undertaken specific investments  in the l ine, including the subs3tu3on of argon gas  with nitrogen gas  as
the main energy source, which is  expected to directly reduce produc3on costs  with addi3onal  benefits  in terms of
sustainabi l i ty.
 
We are a lso strengthening our R&D team to beTer a l ign with evolving market needs and to drive innova3on both in the
short term and across  our medium- to long-term strategic verticals .
 
The new strategic focus  at Setcar has  resulted also in a  reduc3on in headcount s ince the acquis i3on of ful l  majori ty
control  in H1 2024. Management changes  have been made to improve leadership and to bring beTer focus  to support
growth.
 
Intellectual Property 
 
At the end of 2024, the Group's  patent porZol io comprises  106 patents  granted (December 2023: 86), with 33 pending
(December 2023: 46), grouped into 22 patent fami l ies . The Group's  patents  cover our unique graphene produc3on process
and a wide range of appl ica3ons, and our porZol io evidences  Directa P lus ' real  s trategic value. S ince incep3on, we have
fostered an aggress ive I P  strategy across  different ver3cals  to protect the produc3on process  and several  of our
appl ica3ons. O ur produc3on process  is  modular and flexible, and we can eas i ly and quickly produce G+ finished and
semifinished products  for different ver3cals . O ur wide I P  porZol io represents  a  strong barrier against compe3tors  and a
s ignificant asset, ready to generate economic returns  and pos i3on Directa P lus  as  a  leading technology player in a  fast-
growing market.
 
Outlook 
 
W hi lst new wins  in F Y24 were s lower than we had expected, the team has  worked di l igently to ensure that we have a sol id
strategy and the necessary founda3on to take advantage of the s ignificant opportuni3es  that are ahead of us , driving value
across  our expanding network of partners  and customers, and bringing the Group back to i ts  expected growth path. I n the
near term, we are focused on con3nued reorganisa3on of Setcar which wi l l  a l low us  to capture new bus iness  opportuni3es
and el iminate inefficiencies . We are a lso redes igning the layout of the Lomazzo plant to enhance produc3on flexibi l i ty and
to achieve further s igni ficant cost reductions.
 
The early momentum seen so far in F Y25 is  evidence of the success  of this  focus  with new contract wins , that are further
supported by a  good pipel ine of opportuni3es  and scope for further opera3onal  efficiencies  and cost reduc3on. The Board
is  confident in achieving results  for FY25 in l ine with market expectations.
 
Giulio Cesareo 
Chief Executive Officer 
2 June 2025 
 
 



 
 
Chief Financial Officer's statement 
 
The key focus  in 2024 has  been on naviga3ng a par3cularly chal lenging environment, whi le preserving the Group's
financial  s tabi l i ty and enhancing opera3onal  efficiency. Despite external  headwinds, the finance team has  remained
committed to supporting strategic decis ion making, optimis ing resource al location, and maintaining robust cost control .
 
I n paral lel , the Group con3nued to invest in l ine with i ts  long-term strategic plan, with a  discipl ined approach aimed at
balancing short-term res i l ience and long-term growth. The successful  capital  ra ise completed in June 2024 has  been
instrumental  in enabl ing these efforts , s trengthening both the opera3onal  and financial  founda3ons of the Group, and
positioning i t to capital ise on emerging opportunities  in i ts  core markets .
 
Key Performance Indicators
 
The Board measures  the performance of the Group through several  important K P I s . As  a  growing bus iness  opera3ng across
different ver3cal  markets , iden3fying measurable data that wi l l  provide useful  ins ight year-on-year is  not a lways
straightforward but the KPIs  below aim to help shareholders  navigate the Group's  progress:
 
·   P roduct sales  and service revenue at €6.66m (2023: €10.53m), impacted by temporary delays  in key

customer orders  and contract awards  in the Environmental  Remediation and Texti les  divis ions
·   Total  income (including grants) at €6.83m (2023: €10.86m)
·   Adjusted LB I TDA* increased by 42% to €3.64m (2023: €2.56m), driven by lower revenues, offset in part by

continued efforts  to control  costs  and improve production efficiency
·   Loss  before tax increased by 25% to €5.37m (2023: €4.31m)
·   Reported (bas ic) Loss  per share stable at €0.06 (2023: €0.06)
·   Cash and cash equivalents  at year end of €4.98m (2023: €2.39m), s ignificantly strengthened by the capital

ra ise completed in June 2024
 
* A djusted EB ITDA  loss represents results from opera6ng ac6vi6es before tax, interest, deprecia6on and amor6sa6on, adjusted
by one-off expenses, one-off provisions, inventory write-offs, non-recurring legal expenses and onerous contract provision
(details below).
 
Financial review
 
2024 remained a chal lenging year, as  the war in Ukraine and the Middle East, combined with pers istently high interest
rates , con3nued to weigh on global  markets . These macroeconomic and geopol i3cal  condi3ons temporari ly impacted the
Group's  growth trajectory, financial  results  and stock performance.
 
The difficult environment par3cularly affected our two primary bus iness  areas: the European tex3les  market and the
environmental  remedia3on ac3vi3es, both of which were directly exposed to the macroeconomic s lowdown and
geopol i3cal  uncertain3es. This  led to a  materia l  reduc3on in revenue to €6.7 mi l l ion, represen3ng a 37% decrease versus
2023, mainly due to a  temporary s lowdown in orders  from key customers  and the strategic decis ion to focus  on high
margin high value bus iness .
 
Despite this , the Group implemented several  mi3ga3ng ac3ons aimed at protec3ng margins  and preserving l iquidity. These
included strict control  over opera3ng expenses, a  con3nued reduc3on in direct produc3on costs , and a focused
priori3sa3on of contracts  with higher profitabi l i ty. These efforts  helped par3al ly offset the impact on the net loss  for the
year.
 
I n June 2024, the Group raised gross  proceeds of approximately £6.9 mi l l ion through a placing and subscrip3on involving
the issuance of 38,361,106 new O rdinary Shares  at a  price of 18p each. The capital  ra ised was used to acquire the
remaining minori ty interest in Setcar, with the balance deployed to accelerate investments  across  both our primary and
secondary ver3cals , to cover general  working capital  needs, and maintain momentum on medium to long-term
opportunities .
 
The comple3on of the €1.5 mi l l ion acquis i3on of an addi3onal  49% stake in Setcar has  taken to Group's  total  ownership to
99.95%. The acquis i3on was ini3al ly par3al ly financed through a short-term €1 mi l l ion loan from Nant Capital  LLC, which
was repaid out of the proceeds of the capital  ra ise. Ful l  majori ty control  has  enabled the Group to ac3vely restructure
Setcar in order to enhance i ts  strategic a l ignment with the wider Group, accelerate the deployment of Grafysorber® in the
region, and capital ise on the s ignificant market opportuni3es  emerging local ly in environmental  services  and
decontamination.
 
The new funds have enabled the Group to con3nue execu3ng i ts  strategic plan, with targeted commercial  and R&D
investments . These are careful ly balanced to op3mise short-term returns  whi le preserving the Group's  abi l i ty to capture
high-value opportuni3es  in the medium to long term, a l l  whi le maintaining discipl ined cash management. As  of 31
December 2024, the Group held cash and equivalents  of €4.98 mi l l ion.
 
I t should a lso be noted that, at the statutory level , the parent company (Directa P lus  plc) recorded a non-cash impairment
loss  of €16.9 mi l l ion on i ts  investment in Directa P lus  S.p.A., fol lowing a decrease in the Group's  market capital isa3on.
This  adjustment, which has  no impact on the consol idated financial  s tatements , reflects  a  prudent appl ica3on of
accounting standards  in the individual  enti ty's  accounts .
 
Looking ahead, the Group's  short-term priori3es  remain focused on reducing cash consump3on and enhancing
profi tabi l i ty.
 
Alternative performance measures
 
This  report includes  both statutory and adjusted financial  measures, the laTer of which the Directors  bel ieve beTer reflect
the underlying performance of the Group by excluding certain i tems that i f included could distort a  reader's  understanding
of the results .
 
The table below shows a reconci l iation of statutory and adjusted measures  for LBITDA and Loss  before taxation.
 
€ million 2024 2023

Result from operating activities (5.42) (4.18)

(+) Depreciation and amortisation 1.26 1.27

LBITDA (4.16) (2.91)

(+) One-off expenses 0.13 0.00

(+) One-off provis ion 0.02 0.28

(+) Inventory write-off 0.36 0.17



(+) Inventory write-off 0.36 0.17

(+) Lawsuit expenses 0.05 0.05

(+/-) Onerous  contracts  provis ion (0.04) (0.15)

Adjusted LBITDA (3.64) (2.56)
 
Adjustments  refer to

·  a one-off expense of €0.13 mi l l ion in 2024, rela3ng to engineering development costs  incurred by Setcar for the
acquis i3on of specia l ised equipment intended for the Liberty Galați  project. I n l ight of Liberty's  financial
difficul3es, Setcar decided to place the investment on hold. The costs  have been treated as  a  non-recurring i tem,
with the potentia l  to be leveraged as  an intangible asset should the project activi ties  resume;

·  a €0.02 mi l l ion tax risk provis ion in Romania in 2024 and a bad debt provis ion in 2023 of €0.28 mi l l ion referred
to unpaid receivables  in respect of contracts  carried out in 2021 and 2022;

·  an inventory write-off of €0.36 mi l l ion in 2024 and €0.17 mi l l ion in 2023. The 2024 amount reflects  the adop3on
of a  new, more conserva3ve internal  provis ioning pol icy for inventory, introduced fol lowing the revenue decl ine
experienced during the year. I n response to this  downturn, management opted for a  stricter and more structured
approach, applying progress ive write-down percentages  based on stock ageing, lack of movement, and absence of
recent sales ;

·  legal  costs  of €0.05 mi l l ion in 2024 and €0.05 mi l l ion in 2024 mainly l inked to the protec3on of Directa P lus ' I P
portfol io;

·  a provis ion release of €0.04 mi l l ion (2023: €0.15 mi l l ion). A €0.19 mi l l ion provis ion was made in 2022 for the
total  expected loss  on the conclus ion of the two onerous  long-term contracts  where recovery was  deemed
uncertain under IFRS15. The provis ion was reversed out in 2023 and 2024 on the conclus ion of the contracts .

 
A descrip3on of the principal  risks  and uncertain3es  facing the Group is  set out in the Directors ' Report of the Annual
Report.
 
Giorgio Bonfanti
Chief Financial  Officer
2 June 2025

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

In Euro Note        31-Dec-24        31-Dec-23

Continuing operations  
Revenue 3 6,661,117 10,530,395
Other income 3 165,062 332,963
Changes  in inventories  of finished goods and work in
progress (41,531)

 
(247,961)

Inventory write-off 5 (343,946) -
Raw materia ls  and consumables  used 6 (2,727,179) (5,350,490)
Employee benefi ts  expenses 7 (4,464,507) (4,444,577)
Depreciation and amortisation 11/12 (1,186,301) (1,270,193)
Impairment of intangible assets 11 (69,444) -
Other expenses 8 (3,409,765) (3,734,813)
Results (used in) operating activities (5,416,494)  (4,184,676)

Finance income 9 204,767 72,270
Finance expenses 9 (162,391) (194,660)

Net finance costs 42,376  (122,390)

 

 Loss before tax  (5,374,118)  (4,307,066)  

Tax income 10 - 31,718
Loss after tax from continuing operations (5,374,118)  (4,275,348)

Loss of the year (5,374,118)  (4,275,348)

 
 

Other Comprehensive  expense items that will not be
reclassified to profit or loss  

Defined Benefi t Plan re-measurement gains  and losses 20 18,154 (10,769)
Other comprehensive expense/income for the year
(no tax impact) 18,154  (10,769)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (5,355,964)  (4,286,117)

 
 
Loss attributable to  

 Owner of the Parent
 

          
                             

(5,140,237)
 

(3,856,103)

 Non-control l ing interests
                                

(233,881)
 

(419,245)

 (5,374,118  (4,275,348)

 

Total comprehensive expense attributable to:    

Owners  of the Company (5,122,083) (3,866,872)

Non-control l ing interests (233,881) (419,245)

(5,355,964)  (4,286,117)

Loss per share  

Basic loss  per share 24 (0.06) (0.06)

Di luted loss  per share 24 (0.06) (0.06)
 
 



CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

  Group Company

In Euro Note      31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23      31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23

Assets

Intangible assets 11 1,169,681 1,436,684 - -

Investments 13 - - 5,331,814 18,622,777
Property, plant and
equipment

12 2,962,133 3,290,809 - -

Other receivables 14 3,998 162,923 - -

Non-current assets 4,135,812 4,890,416 5,331,814 18,622,777

Inventories 5 686,023 881,450 - -
Trade and other
receivables 14

1,936,194 4,396,748 98,641 96,265

Cash and cash
equivalent 16 4,981,138 2,393,303 4,128,402 1,024,286

Current assets 7,603,355 7,671,501 4,227,043 1,120,551

Total assets 11,739,167 12,561,917 9,558,857 19,743,328

Equity

Share capital 17 318,617 205,469 318,617 205,469

Share premium 17 46,569,021 39,181,789 46,569,021 39,181,789
Foreign Currency
Trans lation Reserve 17

 
(80,356)

 
(44,902)

 
-

 
-

Accumulated losses
    17      

      
(39,730,204) (33,882,143) (37,504,853) (19,770,339)

Equity attributable to
owners of Group 7,077,078 5,460,213 9,382,785 19,616,919

Non-control l ing
interests 17 73,531 1,121,911 - -

Total equity 7,150,609 6,582,124 9,382,785 19,616,919

Liabilities

Loans  and borrowings 18 853,165 1,528,108 - -

Lease l iabi l i ties 19 448,195 183,056 - -
Employee benefi ts
provis ion 20

207,633 357,520 - -

Other payables 21 - 64,014 - -

Non-current liabilities 1,508,993 2,132,698 - -

Loans  and borrowings 18 852,253 742,904 - -

Lease l iabi l i ties 19 175,941 206,509 - -
Trade and other
payables 21

2,031,066 2,856,835 176,072 126,409

Provis ion 22 20,305 40,847 - -
Current liabilities 3,079,565 3,847,095 176,072 126,409

Total liabilities 4,588,558 5,979,793 176,072 126,409

Total equity and
liabilities  11,739,167 12,561,917

9,558,857 19,743,328

 
The Company has  taken advantage of the exemp3on al lowed under sec3on 408 of the Companies  Act 2006 and has  not
presented i ts  own statement of comprehensive income in these financial  s tatements . The Company loss  aPer tax for the
year was  €17,665,515 (2023: €14,509,549). The loss  in 2024 was mainly aTributable to the impairment loss  on the
investment held by Directa P lus  plc in Directa P lus  S.p.A. for a  total  amount of €16.9 mi l l ion. An impairment trigger was
identi fied fol lowing a decrease in the market capital isation of the Group over the last 12 months.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY  

 
    

 

In Euro Share
Capital

Share
premium

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

Accumulated
 deficit

Total 
Non-
controlling
interests

Total equity

Balance at 31 December
2022 205,469 39,181,789 (39,161) (30,069,843) 9,278,254 1,546,887 10,825,141
Total comprehensive
expense for the year        
Loss  of the year - - - (3,856,103) (3,856,103) (419,245) (4,275,348)
Total  other comprehensive
expense - - - (10,769) (10,769) - (10,769)
Total comprehensive
expense for the period - - - (3,866,872) (3,866,872) (419,245) (4,286,117)
Trans lation reserve - - (5,741) - (5,741) (5,731) (11,472)



Trans lation reserve - - (5,741) - (5,741) (5,731) (11,472)
Share-based payment - - - 54,573 54,573 - 54,573
Balance at 31 December
2023 205,469 39,181,789 (44,902) (33,882,143) 5,460,213 1,121,911 6,582,124
Total comprehensive
expense for the year        
Loss  of the year - - - (5,140,237) (5,140,237) (233,881) (5,374,118)
Total  other comprehensive
income - - - 18,154 18,154 - 18,154
Total comprehensive
expense for the period - - - (5,122,083) (5,122,083) (233,881) (5,355,964)
Capital  ra ised 113,148 8,033,534 - - 8,146,682 - 8,146,682
Expenditure related to the
issuance of shares - (646,302) - - (646,302) - (646,302)
Acquis i tion of 48,95%
Setcar - - - (649,237) (649,237) (814,499) (1,463,736)
Trans lation reserve - - (35,454) - (35,454) - (35,454)
Share-based payment - - - (76,741) (76,741) - (76,741)
Balance at 31 December
2024 318,617 46,569,021 (80,356) (39,730,204) 7,077,078 73,531 7,150,609
 

 

                    COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

     

 Share Share Accumulated Total

In Euro capital premium deficit equity
Balance at
31
December
2022

205,469 39,181,789 (5,346,322) 34,040,936

Loss  for the
year

- - (14,509,549)    
(14,509,549)

Share-
based
payment

- - 85,532 85,532  

Balance at
31
December
2023

205,469 39,181,789 (19,770,339) 19,616,919

Loss  for the
year

- - (17,665,515) (17,665,515)

Capital
ra ised

113,148 8,033,534 - 8,146,682

Cost
directly
attributable
to the
issuance of
shares

- (646,302) - (646,302)

Share-
based
payment

- - (68,999) (68,999)

Balance at
31
December
2024

318,617 46,569,021 (37,505,853) 9,382,785

 

                        CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
 Group Company

In Euro                                                          Note 2024 2023 2024 2023
 
Cash flows from operating activities

Loss  for the year before tax
 
 

 
(5,374,118)

 
(4,307,066) (17,665,515) (14,509,549)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation                                                  12 741,264 817,611 - -
Amortisation of intangible assets                         11 445,037 452,582 - -
Impairment on intangible assets 11 69,444 - - -

Impairment on assets  under construction 11 134,121

Disposal  loss  on tangible and intangible assets 4,326 24,014 - -
Share-based payment expense       7 (76,741) 54,573 (68,999) 85,532
Finance income                                            9 (204,767) (72,270) (115,751) (39,214)
Finance expense                                           156,322 175,350 22,340 3,018

Interest of lease l iabi l i ties 9 6,069 19,310 - -

Impairment on inventory 343,946 - - -

Impairment of investments 13 - - 16,875,963 13,602,359
 (3,755,097) (2,835,896) (951,962) (857,854)

Decrease/(Increase) in:
- inventories                                                     (148,518) 240,461 - -



- inventories                                                     (148,518) 240,461 - -
- trade and other receivables                          14 2,619,479 (374,105) (2,376) 18,619

- trade and other payables                                (832,069) 712,208 49,663 4,136
- provis ions  and employee benefi ts              (208,610) (224,170) - -
- Other provis ion 22 (20,542) (150,150) - -
Net cash used in operating activities (2,345,357) (2,631,652) (904,675) (835,099)
 
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received                                              9 87,732 46,108 - -
Investment in intangible assets                        (247,451) (213,538) - -
Acquis i tion / investment in subs idiary 13 (1,500,326) - (3,585,000) (1,964,800)
Acquis i tion of property, plant and equipment    (100,547) (271,281) - -
Net cash used in investing activities  (1,760,592) (438,711) (3,585,000) (1,964,800)
 
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from capital  ra ise net of i ssuance costs 17 7,500,380 - 7,500,380 -
Interest on loan and other financial  costs 9 (143,459) (159,225) (22,340) (3,018)
New borrowings 18 1,172,896 945,278 1,000,000 -
Repayment of borrowings                                       18 (1,738,490) (820,084) (1,000,000) -
Repayment of lease l iabi l i ties                                  (215,714) (244,762) - -
New lease l iabi l i ties - - - -

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 6,575,613 (278,793) 7,478,040 (3,018)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalent 2,469,664 (3,349,156) 2,988,365 (2,802,917)
Cash and cash equivalent at beginning of the year 2,393,303 5,727,768 1,024,286 3,787,989
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents 118,171 14,691 115,751 39,214

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

1.    Basis of preparation
a)    Statement of compliance

These consol idated and parent Company financial  s tatements  have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted I nterna3onal  Accoun3ng
Standards  (I F RSs). The principal  accoun3ng pol icies  are summarised below. They have al l  been appl ied cons istently throughout the year and the
preceding year, unless  otherwise stated.
Al l  notes , except as  otherwise indicated, are presented in Euros  ("€").
 

I.             Going Concern
The Group meets  i ts  working capital  requirements  through the receipt of revenues from the provis ion of i ts  services  and sale of products , mainly
in Europe, the management of capital  and opera3ng expenditure, the working capital  and other borrowing faci l i3es  avai lable to i t and from the
issue of equity capital .
 
The conflicts  in Ukraine and the Middle East, high infla3on, increased tariffs  in interna3onal  trade pol icies , and increased interest rates  by
Central  Banks  have been an addi3onal  cause of uncertainty over the macro-economic outlook, affec3ng both the pol i3cal  and bus iness
environments . These events  have had a s ignificant impact on global  economies  and markets , and on the opera3ons and opera3onal  funding of
companies  experiencing widespread infla3onary cost pressures  and supply chain disrup3on. I n par3cular, certain sectors  such as  tex3les  and
environmental  services  have been directly affected - the former by increased raw materia l  and energy costs , and the laTer by ris ing opera3onal
expenses  and delays  in publ ic and private sector contracting - adding further pressure on bus inesses  operating in these industries .
 
Management bel ieves  that the Group has  systems and protocols  in place to address  the chal lenges. However, as  at the date of approval  of these
financial  s tatements , i t i s  not clear how long the current ci rcumstances  are l ikely to last and what the long-term impact wi l l  be.
 
O n 11 June 2024, the Group announced the launch of a  fundraise of £6.9 mi l l ion, by way of a  placing and subscrip3on, to fund the acquis i3on of
the minori ty interests  of i ts  subs idiary, Setcar SA, and to sustain the expected high growth of the bus iness . The capital  ra ise was  effec3ve aPer
the shareholders ' approval  at a  General  Mee3ng held on 27 June 2024. As  at 31 December 2024, the Group held cash and cash equivalents  of
€4.98 mi l l ion (31 December 2023: €2.39 mi l l ion) and is  currently funded through €7.15 mi l l ion of shareholder equity and €1.71 mi l l ion of loans
and bank debt, most of which are repayable over two years . As  at 30 Apri l  2025, the Group held €3.6m of gross  cash.
 
The Directors  prepared a cash flow forecast for the Group and the Parent Company for the period to December 2026, to assess  i f there is
sufficient l iquidity in place to support the plan and strategy for the future development of the Group. This  forecast showed that the Group and the
Parent Company wi l l  have sufficient financial  headroom for the entire forecast period i f reasonably plaus ible downside scenarios  do not occur.
 
I n addi3on, the Directors , in formula3ng the plan and strategy for the future development of the bus iness , cons idered reasonably plaus ible
downside scenarios  including reduc3ons in forecast revenues and gross  margin and no renewal  of any financial  faci l i3es. Under those stressed
scenarios  the Group could exhaust i ts  cash resources  before December 2026 and may therefore be required to raise addi3onal  funding which is
not guaranteed.
 
These events  or condi3ons indicate that a  materia l  uncertainty exists  that may cast s ignificant doubt on the Group and Parent Company's  abi l i ty
to con3nue as  going concern and therefore, the Group and the Parent Company may be unable to real ise their assets  or discharge their l iabi l i3es
in the normal  course of bus iness . The Directors  review regularly updates  to the scenario planning such that i t can put in place mi3ga3ng ac3ons
and maintain the viabi l i ty of the company and wi l l  keep stakeholders  informed as  necessary.
 
Based on the analys is  above, the Directors  have a reasonable expecta3on that, in the event of the reasonable plaus ible downside scenario
occurring, the Group and the Company wi l l  be able to raise addi3onal  funding to faci l i tate the adequate resources  to support their ac3vi3es  for
the foreseeable future. The Directors  have concluded that i t i s  appropriate to adopt the going concern bas is  of accoun3ng in the prepara3on of
the financial  s tatements . The financial  s tatements  have therefore been prepared on the going concern bas is . The financial  s tatements  do not
include any adjustments  that would result from the bas is  of preparation being inappropriate.
 

b)    Basis of consolidation
I .             Subs idiaries

W here the Company has  control  over an investee, i t i s  class ified as  a  subs idiary. The Company controls  an investee i f a l l  three of the fol lowing
elements  are present: power over the investee, exposure to variable returns  from the investee, and the abi l i ty of the investor to use i ts  power to
affect those variable returns. Control  i s  reassessed whenever facts  and ci rcumstances  indicate that there may be a change in any of these
elements  of control .
 
The total  comprehensive income of non-whol ly owned subs idiaries  i s  aTributed to owners  of the parent and to the non-control l ing interests  in
proportion to their relative ownership interests .



proportion to their relative ownership interests .
 

II.            Transactions  el iminated on consol idation
The consol idated financial  s tatements  present the results  of the Company and i ts  subs idiaries  ("the Group") as  i f they formed a s ingle en3ty.
Intercompany transactions  and balances  between group companies  are therefore el iminated in ful l .
 

I I I .           Non-control l ing interest
Non-control l ing interest in the net assets  of the consol idated subs idiaries  are iden3fied separately from the Group's  equity. Non-control l ing
interests  cons ist of the amount of those interests  at the date of the original  bus iness  combina3on and the non-control l ing shareholder's  share
changes  in equity s ince the date of the combina3on. The non-control l ing interest's  share of losses , where appl icable, are aTributed to the non-
control l ing interests  i rrespec3ve of whether the non-control l ing shareholders  have a binding obl iga3on and are able to make an addi3onal
investment to cover the losses . 
 

c)    Functional and presentation currency
These financial  s tatements  are presented in Euro ("€") and is  cons idered by the Directors  to be the most appropriate presenta3on currency to
ass ist the users  of the financial  s tatements . The func3onal  currency of the Company and of the I ta l ian opera3ng subs idiaries  i s  Euro ("€"). The
functional  currency of the Romanian subs idiary is  Romanian Leu.
 

d)    Use of estimates and judgements
The prepara3on of the financial  s tatements  in conformity with I F RS requires  management to make judgements , es3mates  and assump3ons that
affect the appl ica3on of accoun3ng pol icies  and the reported amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i3es. The es3mates  and associated assump3ons are
based on historical  experience and various  other factors  that are bel ieved to be reasonable under the ci rcumstances  and the results  of which
form the bas is  of making judgements  about carrying values  of assets  and l iabi l i3es  that are not readi ly apparent from other sources. Actual
results  may di ffer from these estimates.
 
Es3mates  and underlying assump3ons are reviewed on an ongoing bas is . Revis ions  to accoun3ng es3mates  are recognised in the period in
which the estimates  are revised i f the revis ion affects  only that period.
Cri3cal  es3mates  and judgements  that have the most s ignificant effect on the amounts  recognised in the financial  s tatements  and/or have a
s igni ficant risk of resulting in a  materia l  adjustment within the next financial  year are as  fol lows.
 
Estimates
Management identi fied the fol lowing estimates  for the preparation of the financial  s tatements . The Group has  not made any materia l  judgments .
 

I.             Valuation of share based payments
The es3ma3on related to share-based payment expenses  includes  the selec3on of an appropriate valua3on op3on pricing model , cons idera3on
as  to the inputs  necessary for the valua3on model  chosen, and the es3ma3on of the number of awards  that wi l l  ul3mately vest. I nputs  subject to
es3ma3on relate to the future vola3l i ty of the share price which has  been es3mated based on the historical  observed vola3l i ty from trading in
the Company's  shares , over a  historical  period of 3me between the date of the grant and the date of exercise. Management has  used a Monte-
Carlo model  to calculate the fa ir value of the awards  which include market based performance condi3ons. Further disclosure of inputs  relevant
to the calculations  is  set out in note 25 to the financial  s tatements .
 

II.            Carrying value of goodwill, other intangible assets and PPE
The carrying value of goodwi l l , intangible assets  and property, plant and equipment is  tested annual ly for impairment in accordance with I AS 36.
Management has  assessed the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-genera3ng units  (CGUs) us ing a  combina3on of value in use (VI U)
calculations  and qual i tative indicators  for CGUs in which the Group continues  to invest and sees  long-term commercial  potentia l .
 
The VI U method involves  es3ma3ng future cash flows derived from approved bus iness  plans  and discoun3ng them us ing a  pre-tax rate that
reflects  current market assessments  of the 3me value of money and the risks  specific to each CGU. I n addi3on, market mul3ples  derived from
comparable companies  are cons idered as  a  cross-check to val idate the results  obtained through the VIU approach.
 
For CGUs s3l l  in development, management cons idered recent investments , ongoing commercial  discuss ions, and forecasts  of future expected
cash flows.
 
As  a  secondary cross-check, management a lso cons idered both the Group's  market capital isa3on and market valua3on mul3ples  of comparable
companies , which provided additional  comfort on the reasonableness  of the value in use calculations.
 
Given that the Group is  s3l l  in a  development phase for certain products  and technologies , the projec3ons used in the impairment assessment
are inherently subject to a  higher degree of estimation uncertainty.
 
Detai ls  of the assumptions  used and the results  of the impairment tests  are provided in Note 11 to the financial  s tatements .
 

III.           Valuation of inventory
Inventories  are stated at the lower of cost or net real isable value. The cost of inventories  comprises  of net prices  paid for materia ls  purchased,
produc3on labour cost and factory overhead. Net real isable value represents  the es3mated sel l ing price less  a l l  es3mated costs  of comple3on
and costs  to be incurred in marke3ng, sel l ing and distribu3on. I nventory provis ions  are recognised for s low-moving, obsolete or unsalable
inventory and are reviewed on a s ix-monthly bas is . The valua3on of inventory includes  key es3mates  over required provis ion for s low moving
inventory including cons idera3on of normal  produc3on capacity, market demand and sel l ing opportuni3es. I f actual  demand or usage were to
be lower than estimated, additional  inventory provis ions  for excess  or obsolete inventory may be required.
 
In response to the decl ine in revenue and lower inventory turnover during FY2024, the Group adopted a revised inventory provis ioning pol icy. The
new methodology introduces  standardised provis ion rates  based on inventory ageing, and expected future sales  of finished goods and
consumption of raw materia ls .
 

IV.          Investments
Judgement is  required over the recoverabi l i ty of any amounts  invested into subs idiary companies , Management cons iders  the Group's  market
capital isa3on at the end of the repor3ng period as  a  poten3al  indicator of impairment. The carrying value is  determined by reference to value in
use calcula3ons. As  each of the subs idiaries  are owned (directly or indirectly) by the Company the creditworthiness  of the subs idiary is  the same
as the creditworthiness  of the Company. Further detai ls  are set out in note 13.
 

V.            Expected credit losses on receivables
Revenue from product and service sales  is  recognised at a  point in 3me, in l ine with I F RS 15. As  part of the revenue recogni3on process ,
management performs an assessment of the recoverabi l i ty of trade receivables  at each reporting date.
 
This  assessment involves  es3ma3ng the expected credit losses  (EC L) on receivables , cons idering factors  such as  the customer's  financial
condi3on, historical  payment behaviour, ageing of balances, and forward-looking informa3on about economic and sector-specific condi3ons.
Where necessary, speci fic provis ions  are recognised for credit-impaired receivables .
 
Further detai l  on trade receivables  and associated credit risk i s  disclosed in Note 14 to the financial  s tatements .
 
2.    Material accounting policy information

 

a)    Functional currency
The financial  s tatements  of each Group company are measured us ing the currency of the primary economic environment in which that company
operates  (the func3onal  currency). The consol idated financial  s tatements  record the results  and financial  pos i3on of each Group company in



operates  (the func3onal  currency). The consol idated financial  s tatements  record the results  and financial  pos i3on of each Group company in
Euro, which is  the functional  currency of the Company and the presentational  currency for the consol idated financial  s tatements .
 

I.     Transaction and balances
Transac3ons in foreign currencies  are converted into the respec3ve func3onal  currencies  at ini3al  recogni3on, us ing the exchange rates  at the
transac3on date. Monetary assets  and l iabi l i3es  at the end of the repor3ng period are trans lated at the rates  rul ing at the repor3ng date. Non-
monetary assets  and l iabi l i3es  are not retrans lated. Al l  exchange differences  are recognised in profit or loss . O n consol ida3on, the results  of
overseas  opera3ons not in Euro are trans lated at the rates  approxima3ng to those rul ing when the transac3ons took place. Al l  assets  and
l iabi l i3es  of overseas  opera3ons are trans lated at the rate rul ing at the repor3ng date. Exchange differences  aris ing on trans la3ng the opening
net assets  at clos ing rate and the results  of overseas  operations  at actual  rate are recognised in other comprehensive income.
 

b)    Financial instruments
There are no other categories  of financial  assets  other than those l i s ted below:

I.       Trade and other receivables and amount due from subsidiaries

Trade and other receivables  and amounts  due from subs idiaries  are recognised and carried at the original  invoice amount less  any provis ion for
impairment.
 
The Group recognises  a  loss  a l lowance for expected credit losses  ("EC L") on financial  assets  that are measured at amor3sed cost which comprise
mainly of trade receivables . The amount of expected credit losses  is  updated at each repor3ng date to reflect changes  in credit risk s ince ini3al
recognition of the respective financial  instrument.
 
The Group always  recognises  l i fe3me EC L on trade receivables . The expected credit losses  on these financial  assets  are es3mated us ing a
provis ion matrix based on the Group's  historical  credit loss  experience, adjusted for factors  that are specific to the debtors , general  economic
condi3ons and an assessment of both the current as  wel l  as  the forecast direc3on of condi3ons at the repor3ng date, including 3me value of
money where appropriate.
 

II.      Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents  comprise demand deposits  with an original  maturi ty of up to 3 months  which are readi ly conver3ble to a  known
amount of cash and are subject to an ins igni ficant risk of change in value.
 

III.    Trade and other payables
Trade payables  are stated at their amortised cost.
 

IV.    Financial liabilities and equity
Financial  l iabi l i3es  and equity instruments  are class ified according to the substance of the contractual  arrangements  entered into. At ini3al
recogni3on, financial  l iabi l i3es  are measured at their fa i r value, minus  transac3on costs  that are directly aTributable, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost.
 
An equity instrument is  any contract that evidences  a  res idual  interest in the asset of the Group aPer deduc3ng al l  of i ts  l iabi l i3es. Equity
instruments  issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received net of direct i ssue costs .
 

V.     Leases
O n commencement of a  contract which gives  the Group the right to use assets  for a  period of 3me in exchange for cons idera3on, the Group
recognises  a  right-of-use asset and a lease l iabi l i ty. The right-of-use asset i s  measured at cost, which is  made up of the ini3al  measurement of
the lease l iabi l i ty, any ini3al  direct costs  incurred by the Group, an es3mate of any costs  to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the
lease, and any lease payment made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incen3ves  received). The Group depreciates  the right-
of-use assets  on a straight-l ine bas is  from the lease commencement date to the earl ier of the end of the useful  l i fe of the right-of-use asset or the
end of the lease term. The Group also assesses  the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators  exist. At the commencement date, the
Group measures  the lease l iabi l i ty at the present value of the lease payment unpaid at that date, discounted us ing the interest rate impl ici t in the
lease i f that rate is  readi ly avai lable or the Group's  incremental  borrowing rate. Lease payments  included in the measurement of the lease
l iabi l i ty are made up of fixed payments , variable payments  based on an index or rate, amounts  expected to be payable under a  res idual  value
guarantee and payments  aris ing from op3ons reasonably certain to be exercised. Subsequent to ini3al  measurement, the l iabi l i ty wi l l  be
reducing for payment made and increased for interest. I t i s  remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modifica3on, or i f there are changes  in in-
substance fixed payments . W hen the lease l iabi l i ty i s  remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is  reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit
and loss  i f the right-of-use asset i s  a l ready reduced to zero.
 

c)    Share capital
O rdinary shares  are class ified as  equity. I ncremental  costs  directly aTributable to the issue of new shares  or op3ons are neTed off against
share premium.

 
d)    Property, plant and equipment

I .     Recognition and measurement
P roperty, plant and equipment are measured at cost less  accumulated deprecia3on, Government grants  received (where appl icable) and
accumulated impairment losses .
 
Costs  capital ised include expenditure that are directly attributable to the acquis i tion of the asset.
 
W hen parts  of an i tem of property, plant and equipment have different useful  l ives , they are accounted for as  separate i tems (major components)
of property, plant and equipment.
 
Any gain or loss  on disposal  of an i tem of property, plant and equipment (calculated as  the difference between the net proceeds from disposal
and the carrying amount of the i tem) are recognised in profi t or loss .
 

II.    Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditure is  capital ised only when i t i s  probable that the future economic benefits  associated with the expenditure wi l l  flow to the
Group. Ongoing repairs  and maintenance are expensed as  incurred.
 

III.   Depreciation
I tems of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-l ine bas is  in the statement of comprehensive income over the es3mated
useful  l ives  of each component.
 
I tems of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are instal led and are ready for use, or in respect of internal ly
constructed assets , from the date that the asset i s  completed and ready for use.
 
The estimated useful  l ives  of s igni ficant i tems of property, plant and equipment are as  fol lows:

·    IT equipment from 3 to 5 years
·    Industria l  equipment, office equipment and plant and machinery from 5 to 10 years

 
Depreciation methods, useful  l ives  and res idual  values  are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted where appropriate.
 

e)    Intangible assets
I ntangible assets  are measured at cost less  accumulated amor3sa3on and Government grants  received (where appl icable). The carrying value of



I ntangible assets  are measured at cost less  accumulated amor3sa3on and Government grants  received (where appl icable). The carrying value of
intangible assets  i s  reviewed annual ly for impairment.
 
Patent rights  acquired and development expenditure are recognised at cost.
 
Expenditure on internal ly developed products  i s  capital ised i f i t can be demonstrated that:

·    i t i s  technical ly feas ible to develop the product
·    adequate resources  are avai lable to complete the development
·    there is  an intention to complete and sel l  the product
·    the Group is  able to sel l  the product
·    sa le of the product wi l l  generate future economic benefi ts , and
·    expenditure on the project can be measured rel iably

 
Capital ised development costs  are amor3sed over the period the Group expects  to benefit from sel l ing the products  developed (Useful  Economic
Li fe). The amortisation expense is  included within the cost of sales  in the consol idated statement of comprehensive income.
 
Development expenditure not sa3sfying the above cri teria  and expenditure on the research phase of internal  projects  are recognised in the
consol idated statement of comprehensive income as  incurred.
 
Capital ised development expenditure is  measured at cost less  accumulated amortisation and impairment losses .
 
O ther intangible assets  that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful  l ives  are measured at cost less  accumulated amor3sa3on and
accumulated impairment losses .
 

I.     Amortisation
I ntangible assets  are amor3sed on a straight-l ine bas is  in profit or loss  over their es3mated useful  l ives , from the date that they are avai lable
for use. The estimated useful  l ives  of s igni ficant intangible assets  are as  fol lows:

·    Patents  concerning G+® technology generate s igni ficant value to the Group over a  period of 20 years , in l ine with the legal  duration of the
patent and their useful  l ives . However, given the risk of technical  obsolescence, such costs  are amortised over a  period of 10 years . 

·    Brand: 5 years
·    Development costs  concerning personnel  capital ized: 5 years

·    Others : 5 years

 

f)     Inventories
I nventories  are stated at the lower of cost or net real isable value. The cost of inventories  comprises  of net prices  paid for materia ls  purchased,
produc3on labour cost and factory overhead. Net real isable value represents  the es3mated sel l ing price less  a l l  es3mated costs  of comple3on
and costs  to be incurred in marke3ng, sel l ing and distribu3on. I nventory provis ions  are recognised for s low-moving, obsolete or unsalable
inventory and are reviewed on a s ix-month bas is .
 

g)    Goodwill
Goodwi l l  represents  the excess  of the cost of a  bus iness  combina3on over the Group's  interest in the fa ir value of iden3fiable assets , l iabi l i3es
and contingent l iabi l i ties  acquired.
 
Cost comprises  the fa ir value of assets  given, l iabi l i ties  assumed and equity instruments  issued, plus  the amount of any non-control l ing interests
in the acquiree plus , i f the bus iness  combina3on is  achieved in stages, the fa ir value of the exis3ng equity interest in the acquiree. Con3ngent
considera3on is  included in cost at i ts  acquis i3on date fa ir value and, in the case of con3ngent cons idera3on class ified as  a  financial  l iabi l i ty,
remeasured subsequently through profi t or loss .
 
Goodwi l l  i s  capital ised as  an intangible asset with any impairment in carrying value being charged to the consol idated statement of
comprehensive income. W here the fa ir value of iden3fiable assets , l iabi l i3es  and con3ngent l iabi l i3es  exceed the fa ir value of cons idera3on
paid, the excess  is  credited in ful l  to the consol idated statement of comprehensive income on the acquis i tion date.
 

h)    Impairment
I mpairment tests  on goodwi l l , other intangible assets , and property, plant and equipment with indefinite useful  economic l ives  are undertaken
annual ly at the financial  year end. O ther non-financial  assets  are subject to impairment tests  whenever events  or changes  in ci rcumstances
indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. For the purpose of impairment tes3ng, assets  are grouped together into the smal lest
group of assets  that generates  cash inflows from con3nuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets  or groups of
assets  (CGUs). The Group's  CGUs general ly a l ign with each subs idiary. The recoverable amount is  then es3mated. The recoverable amount of an
asset or a  CGU is  the greater of i ts  net present value and i ts  fa i r value less  costs  to sel l .
 
Net present value is  general ly computed as  the present value of the future cash flows, discounted to present value us ing a  pre-tax discount rate
that reflects  current market assessments  of the time value of money and the risks  speci fic to the asset.
 
An impairment loss  i s  recognised i f the carrying amount of an asset or a  CGU exceeds i ts  es3mated recoverable amount. I mpairment losses  are
recognised in profit or loss . I mpairment losses  recognised in respect of CGUs are a l located first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwi l l
a l located to the unit and then to reduce the carrying amounts  of the other assets  in the unit on a pro rata bas is .
 
An impairment loss  in respect of goodwi l l  i s  not reversed. I n respect of other assets , impairment losses  recognised in prior years  are assessed at
each repor3ng date for any indica3ons that the loss  has  decreased or no longer exists . An impairment loss  i s  reversed i f there has  been a change
in the es3mates  used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss  i s  reversed only to the extent that the asset's  carrying amount
does  not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of deprecia3on and amor3sa3on, i f no impairment loss  had been
recognised.
 

i)     Employee benefits
Defined benefi t scheme surpluses  and defici ts  are measured at:

·    The fa ir value of plan assets  at the reporting date; less
·    Plan l iabi l i ties  calculated us ing the projected unit credit method discounted to i ts  present value us ing yields  avai lable on high

qual i ty corporate bonds that have maturi ty dates  approximating to the terms of the l iabi l i ties ; plus
·    Unrecognised past service costs ; less
·    The effect of minimum funding requirements  agreed with scheme trustees.

 
Remeasurements  of the net defined obl igation are recognised directly within equity. The remeasurements  include:

·    Actuaria l  gains  and losses
·    Return on plan assets  (interest exclus ive)
·    Any asset cei l ing effects  (interest exclus ive).

 
Service costs  are recognised in profi t or loss  and include current and past service costs  as  wel l  as  gains  and losses  on curtai lments .
 
Net interest expense (income) is  recognised in profit or loss  and is  calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obl iga3on (asset) at the beginning of the annual  period to the balance of the net defined benefit obl iga3on (asset), cons idering the effects  of
contributions  and benefi t payments  during the period.
 



 
Gains  or losses  aris ing from changes  to scheme benefi ts  or scheme curtai lment are recognised immediately in profi t or loss .
 
Settlements  of defined benefi t schemes are recognised in the period in which the settlement occurs .
For more information, please see note 20.
 

j)     Revenues
The Group operates  diverse bus inesses  and accordingly appl ies  different methods for revenue recogni3on, based on the principles  set out in I F RS
15.
 
The revenue and profits  recognised in any repor3ng period are based on the del ivery of performance obl iga3ons and an assessment of when
control  i s  transferred to the customer. I n determining the amount of revenue and profits  to record, and associated balance sheet i tems,
management is  required to review performance obl igations  within individual  contracts . This  may involve some judgemental  areas.
 
Revenue is  recognised either when the performance obl iga3on in the contract has  been performed (so 'point in 3me' recogni3on) or 'over 3me' as
control  of the performance obl igation is  transferred to the customer.
 
For each performance obl iga3on to be recognised over 3me, the Group appl ies  a  revenue recogni3on method that fa i thful ly depicts  the Group's
performance in transferring control  of the goods or services  to the customer. This  decis ion requires  assessment of the real  nature of the goods or
services  that the Group has  promised to transfer to the customer.

·    Revenues from sale of graphene-based products  are typical ly recognised at a  point in 3me when goods are del ivered to the customer as
with this , the customer gains  the right of control  over the goods. However, for export sales , control  might a lso be transferred when
del ivered either to the port of departure or port of arrival , depending on the speci fic terms of the contract with a  customer.

·    Revenues from services  relates  mainly to environmental  services  provided by Setcar which are recognised:
o  at a  point in 3me bas is  when contracts  include an obl iga3on to process  waste once the process  occurred according with the

contract in place.
o  at the point in time when the waste is  del ivered to our platform with no further performance obl igations.
o  over time in accordance with agreed project mi lestones  being del ivered.

 
k)    Government grants

Government grants  are recognised when there is  reasonable assurance that the en3ty wi l l  comply with the relevant condi3ons and the grant wi l l
be received. Grants  are recognised in profit or loss  on a systema3c bas is  where the Group has  recognised the ini3al  expenses  that the grants  are
intended to compensate. W here a grant has  been received as  a  contribu3on for property, plant and equipment, or capital ised development costs ,
the income received has  been credited against the asset in the statement of financial  pos ition.
 

l)     Finance income and finance costs
Finance income comprises  interest income on funds invested. I nterest income is  recognised in the profit or loss , us ing the effec3ve interest
method. Finance costs  comprise interest expense on borrowings.
 
Borrowing costs  that are not directly aTributable to the acquis i3on, construc3on or produc3on of a  qual i fying asset are recognised in profit or
loss  us ing the effective interest method.
 

m)  Investments in subsidiaries (Company only)
Investments  are stated at their cost less  any provis ion for impairment (for detai ls  refer to note h).
 

n)    Taxation
Tax expense comprises  current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax is  recognised in the profit or loss  except to the extent that i t relates  to a
bus iness  combination, or i tems recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
Current tax is  the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss  for the year, us ing tax rates  enacted or substan3vely enacted
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous  years .
 
Deferred tax is  recognised in respect of temporary differences  between the carrying amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i3es  for financial  repor3ng
purposes  and the amounts  used for taxation purposes.
 
Deferred tax is  not recognised for:

·    temporary di fferences  on the ini tia l  recognition of assets  or l iabi l i ties  in a  transaction that i s  not a  bus iness  combination and that
affects  neither accounting nor taxable profi t or loss ;

·    temporary di fferences  related to investments  in subs idiaries  and jointly control led enti ties  to the extent that i t i s  probable that they wi l l
not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

·    taxable temporary di fferences  aris ing on the ini tia l  recognition of goodwi l l .
 

Deferred tax is  measured at the tax rates  that are expected to be appl ied to temporary differences  when they reverse, us ing tax rates  enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.
 
A deferred tax asset i s  recognised for deduc3ble temporary differences  to the extent that i t i s  probable that future taxable profits  wi l l  be
avai lable against which they can be u3l ised. Deferred tax assets  are reviewed at each repor3ng date and are reduced to the extent that i t i s  no
longer probable that the related tax benefi t wi l l  be real ised.
 
Changes in accounting standards
 
a) New standards, interpretations and amendments effective from January 2024

·    Supplier Finance Arrangements - Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7
The amendments  introduce specific disclosure requirements  related to suppl ier finance arrangements  (some3mes known as  reverse
factoring or supply chain finance), including the terms and magnitude of such arrangements . These amendments  are intended to
improve transparency around the effects  of these arrangements  on an enti ty's  l iabi l i ties  and cash flows.
These amendments  did not have a materia l  impact on the Group's  consol idated financial  s tatements .

·    Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback - Amendments to IFRS 16
The amendments  clari fy the measurement of lease l iabi l i3es  aris ing in sale and leaseback transac3ons, ensuring the sel ler-lessee does
not recognise any gain or loss  related to the retained right of use.
The amendments  had no effect on the Group's  consol idated financial  s tatements .

 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current and Non-Current Liabilities with Covenants - Amendments to IAS 1
The amendments  clari fy how to assess  the class ifica3on of l iabi l i3es , including cases  where the right to defer seTlement is  subject to
compl iance with future covenants . Addi3onal  disclosure is  required about the risk of l iabi l i3es  becoming repayable within twelve months  aPer
the reporting period.
These amendments  did not affect the class ifica3on of the Group's  l iabi l i3es , as  the Group's  long-term borrowings  are not con3ngent on future
covenant compl iance within twelve months  of year-end.
 
The new standard had no impact on the Group's  consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
b) New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective
There are a  number of standards, amendments  to standards, and interpreta3on which have been issued by the I AS B that are effec3ve in future
accounting periods  that the Group has  decided not to adopt early.
 



 
Effective from 1 January 2025:

·    Lack of Exchangeabi l i ty (Amendments  to I AS 21 - The Effects  of Changes  in Foreign Exchange Rates): P rovides  guidance on how to
determine the exchange rate when a currency is  not exchangeable.

 
Effective from 1 January 2026:

·    Amendments  to the Class i fication and Measurement of Financial  Instruments  (Amendments  to IFRS 9)
·    Contracts  Referencing Nature-dependent Electrici ty (Amendments  to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7)

 
Effective from 1 January 2027:

·      I F RS 18 - P resenta3on and Disclosure in F inancial  Statements: This  new standard wi l l  replace I AS 1 and introduce s ignificant changes  to
the presentation of financial  s tatements , including new subtotals  and management-defined performance measures.

·      IFRS 19 - Subs idiaries  without Publ ic Accountabi l i ty: Disclosures: Provides  disclosure s impl i fications  for qual i fying subs idiaries .
 

The Group is  currently evalua3ng the poten3al  impact of these new standards  and amendments . I F RS 18 is  expected to s ignificantly affect the
presenta3on and disclosure of i tems in the financial  s tatements , a l though i t wi l l  not impact recogni3on or measurement. The Group does  not
expect IFRS 19 to be appl icable.
 
3.    Operating segments
I F RS 8 requires  opera3ng segments  to be iden3fied on the bas is  of internal  reports  about components  of the Group that are regularly reviewed by
the chief opera3ng decis ion makers  (C EO  and C FO ), as  defined in I F RS 8, in order to a l locate resources  to the segments  and to assess  i ts
performance.
 
For management purposes, a lso cons idering the materia l i ty the Group is  organized into the fol lowing segments:

·    Texti les
·    Environmental  Remediation
·    Others

 
Tex3les  and Environmental  Remedia3on were cons idered by Management the most advanced strategic segments  in terms of commercial
readiness . Management's  strategic needs  are constantly monitored and an update of the segments  wi l l  be provided i f required.
 
Segment profit/(loss) represents  the profit/(loss) earned by each segment, including al l  the direct costs  that are directly correlated with the
segment. Overhead, assets  and l iabi l i ties  not directly attributable to a  speci fic segment have been al located as  Head Office.
 
As  the bus iness  evolves  this  i s  an area that wi l l  be assessed on a regular bas is  and addi3onal  segmental  repor3ng wi l l  be provided at the
appropriate time.
 
2024

-In euro Textiles Environmental
Remediation Others Head Office Consolidated

Revenue 1,315,254 5,306,229 39,634 - 6,661,117
Cost of Sales* (811,523) (2,381,906) (31,826) - (3,225,255)
Inventory write-off (343,946) - - - (343,946)
Gross Profit 159,785 2,924,323 7,808 - 3,091,916

Other income 95,011 13,635 - 56,416 165,062

Other expenses:      

R&D expenses (11,068) (7,644) (4,700) - (23,412)

Advisory (90,712) (450,366) - (1,091,226) (1,632,304)

Operating expenses (183,546) (3,246,544) (32,840) (2,299,081) (5,762,011)

D&A (112,858) (557,507) (45,563) (470,400) (1,186,328)
I mpairment of
intangibles - - (62,085) (7,332) (69,417)

Operating Profit/(Loss) (143,388) (1,324,103) (137,380) (3,811,623) (5,416,494)

Net financial  costs - - - 42,376 42,376

Tax - - - - -
Profit/(L oss) of the
year

                 
(143,388) (1,324,103) (137,380) (3,769,247) (5,374,118)

      

Total assets 2,751,846 8,440,030 547,291 - 11,739,167

Total liabilities 1,923,726 2,586,226 78,606 - 4,588,558
*Includes Changes in inventories of finished goods.
 
2023

-In euro Textiles Environmental
Remediation Others Head Office Consolidated

Revenue 3,203,752 7,229,677 96,966 - 10,530,395
Cost of Sales* (2,078,194) (4,161,253) (64,508) - (6,303,955)
Gross Profit 1,125,558 3,068,424 32,458 - 4,226,440

Other income 62,251 16,295 112,515 141,902 332,963

Other expenses:      

R&D expenses (125,704) - (5,645) - (131,349)

Advisory (8,545) (298,058) (174,587) (1,085,389) (1,566,579)

Operating expenses (267,946) (3,175,696) (104,128) (2,228,188) (5,775,958)

D&A (386,930) (858,445) (24,818) - (1,270,193)

Operating Loss 398,684 (1,247,480) (164,205) (3,171,675) (4,184,676)

Net financial  costs - - - (122,390) (122,390)

Tax - 31,718 - - 31,718
Profit/(loss) of the
year 398,684 (1,215,762) (164,205) (3,294,065) (4,275,348)



      

Total assets 3,991,458 7,839,333 731,126 - 12,561,917

Total liabilities 2,501,851 3,346,950 130,992 - 5,979,793
*Includes Changes in inventories of finished goods.
 

2024 2023

€ €

Sale of products 1,390,935 3,323,174

Sale of services 5,270,182 7,207,221

Government grants 95,000 160,015

Other 70,062 172,948

Total income 6,826,179 10,863,358
 
Geographical  breakdown of revenues is :

2024 2023

€ €

Italy 1,148,627 3,031,727

Romania 5,275,440 7,211,161

Rest of the world 237,050 287,507

Total 6,661,117 10,530,395
 
I n 2024 the two main customers  accounted for more than 41% of Group revenues for sales  of products  and services . This  largest customer
accounted for 30% of revenues (€2,015,184) and the second for 11% (€731,401).
 
O ther I ncome of €165,062 mainly include Government Grants  for €95,000 and R&D Expenditure Credit (R D EC) for €23,060. The R D EC is  an I ta l ian
incen3ve scheme (art.3 D L 145/2013) des igned to encourage companies  to invest in research and development. The credit can be used to reduce
corporation tax or to offset outstanding payables  related to socia l  securi ty.
 
4.    Government Grants
Information regarding government grants :

2024 2023

€ €

Fi l iere - 112,515

Ricerca e Innova 95,000 47,500

Total 95,000 160,015
 
I n July 2023, the Company was awarded a project tender from the I ta l ian Region of Lombardy as  part of i ts  Ricerca & Innova programme to further
develop Graphene P lus  (G+) a i r fil tra3on appl ica3ons. The 18-month project ended in December 2024. This  award wi l l  enable Directa P lus  to
continue investing and developing i ts  a i r fi l ter appl ications, leveraging the antivi ra l  and antimicrobial  properties  of i ts  G+ technologies .
 
The key terms of government grants are:
   Filiere Ricerca e Innova
Starting
date

2022 2023

Ending date 2023 2024
Duration
(months)

12 18

Total
amount

135,930 407,142

Final  report
submitted

Yes Yes

 
There are no capital  commitments  bui l t into the ongoing grants . Government grants  have been recognised within other income in the income
statement and as  other receivables  in the balance sheet.
 
5. Inventory  
 
 

 
2024

 
2023

 € €
Finished and semi-
finished products

578,915 627,078

Raw materia l 342,172 144,880

Spare parts 109,492 109,492
Write-off  of
inventory (344,556) -

Total 686,023 881,450
 
I n 2024, management revised i ts  inventory provis ioning pol icy in response to the decl ine in revenue, reduced inventory turnover, and an
increased risk of obsolescence among aging stock.
 
The new pol icy reflects  a  more prudent, s tructured, and evidence-based approach, a iming to ensure that inventory is  valued accurately and
transparently in l ine with current market real i ties .
 
This  resulted in a  total  provis ion of €344,556, related to i tems that were assessed as  having l imited recoverabi l i ty under current commercial
assumptions.
 
6.    Raw materials and consumables used

 
 
2024

 
2023

€ €
Raw materia ls  &
consumables 2,138,295 3,898,083



Texti le products 588,884 1,452,407

Total 2,727,179 5,350,490
 
Costs  related to raw materia ls , consumables  and tex3le products  decreased primari ly due to the decl ine in sales  and the impact of the revenue
mix.
 
7.    Employee benefits expenses
 
 

 
2024

 
2023

 € €

Wages and salaries 3,928,616 3,797,869

Social  securi ty costs 391,314 456,405

Employee benefi ts 77,385 98,062
Share op3on
(income)/expense (76,741) 54,573

Other costs 239,894 141,536

Total 4,560,468 4,548,445
Capital ised cost in
"Intangible assets" (95,961) (103,868)

Total charged to the
Income Statement 4,464,507 4,444,577

 
The average number of employees  (excluding non-executive directors) during the period was as  fol lows:
 
 2024 2023
Sales  and
Administration

27 30

Engineering, R&D
and production

153 157

Total 180 187
 
The total  average number of employees  of the Group as  at 31 December 2024 was 180 (2023: 187), of which 152 were employed by Setcar at year
end (2023: 162).
 
The Directors ' emoluments  (including non-executive directors) are as  fol lows:
 2024 2023
 € €
Wages and salaries
(including bonus and
pension)

709,096 680,435

Social  securi ty costs 63,651 58,460
Total 772,747 738,895
 
The aggregate emoluments  (wages, salaries  and socia l  contributions) of the highest paid Director total led €401k (2023: €393k).

Personnel  costs  benefited from a net pos i3ve impact of €76,741, resul3ng from a reversal  of share-based payment expenses  amoun3ng to
€93,943, partia l ly offset by new charges  of €17,202.

8. Other expenses: 
 

2024
€

2023
€

Audit of the Group and
Company financial
statements 145,680 120,485
Audit of the subs idiaries '
financial  s tatements 47,840 45,504
O ther non-audit services
provided by Group's  auditor 6,746 5,709
Tool  manufacturing 89,133 281,182
Analyses  & tests 21,572 101,180
Travel  & Marketing 289,821 248,339
Technical  consultancies 277,663 231,552
Shipping and logistic
expenses 293,228 358,793
Insurance 170,484 189,551
IP expenses 51,719 44,087
Sales  & bus iness
development 482,534 444,436
G&A 453,976 680,537
Rent 149,201 134,031
Maintenance 103,516 96,362
Uti l i ties 41,590 48,748
Legal , tax and administra3ve
consultancies 785,062 704,317
Total other expenses 3,409,765 3,734,813
O ther expenses  mainly include profess ional  services  (such as  audit, legal , tax and administra3ve consultancies), R&D/technical  consultancies
and tests , travels , shipping/logistic and insurance.
 
9. Net Finance expenses
Finance expenses  include:
  2024

€
2023
€

Interest Income (87,732) (46,108)
Interest on loans  and
other financial  costs

 143,459 159,225



other financial  costs
Interest on lease
l iabi l i ties

6,069 19,310

Interest cost for
benefi t plan

 12,863 16,125

Foreign exchanges
(gains)

(117,035) (26,162)

Total  (42,376) 122,390
 
The Group benefited from posi3ve interest income of €87,732, driven by sustained high market interest rates  and a higher average balance of
interest-bearing cash held during the year.
 
I n addi3on, the Group recorded foreign exchange gains  of €117,035 (2023: €26,162), further contribu3ng to the improvement in financial
income.
 
10. Taxation
 2024 2023
 € €
Current tax
expense

- (1,384)

Deferred tax
recovery

- 33,102

Total Tax
income

- 31,718

 
Reconciliation of tax rate
 
 2024 2023
 € €
Loss  before tax (5,374,118) (4,307,066)
I ta l ian statutory tax
rate

24% 24%

(1,289,788) (1,033,696)
I mpact of temporary
di fferences

12,452 42,633

Losses  recognised (12,452) (10,915)
I mpact of tax rate in
foreign jurisdiction

(47,898) (44,936)

Losses  not uti l i sed 1,337,687 1,078,632
Total Tax income - 31,718
 
Tax losses  are carried forward and not recognised as  a  deferred tax asset due to the uncertainty regarding generating future taxable profi ts .
 
11. Intangible assets
 
Cost
 

Development
cost

Patents Goodwill Other Brands Total

 € € € € € €
Balance at 31/12/2022 3,410,311 992,787 293,995 290,982 371,073 5,359,148
Additions 103,868 120,769 - 1,813 - 226,450
Currency translation diff (62) - (1,486) (1,022) (2,029) (4,599)
Balance at 31/12/2023 3,514,117 1,113,556 292,509 291,773 369,044 5,580,999
Additions 95,961 151,490 - - - 247,451
Currency translation diff - - 27 18 37 82
Balance at 31/12/2024 3,610,078 1,265,046 292,536 291,791 369,081 5,828,532
 
Amortisation       
Balance at 31/12/2022 2,850,290 517,095 - 98,281 228,816 3,694,482
Amortisation 2023 259,029 107,185 - 12,138 74,230 452,582
Currency translation diff. (62) - - (1,015) (1,672) (2,749)
Balance at 31/12/2023 3,109,257 624,280 - 109,404 301,374 4,144,315
Amortisation 2024 253,854 118,066 - 5,459 67,658 445,037
Impairment - 69,444 - - - 69,444
Currency translation diff. - - - 6 49 55
Balance at 31/12/2024 3,363,111 811,790 - 114,869 369,081 4,658,851
 
Carrying amount      
Balance at
31/12/2022

560,021 475,692 293,995 192,701 142,257 1,664,666

Balance at
31/12/2023

404,860 489,276 292,509 182,369 67,670 1,436,684

Balance at
31/12/2024

246,967 453,256 292,536 176,922 - 1,169,681

 
As disclosed in note 2(e) development costs  capital ised in the year are mainly based on 3me spent by employees  who are directly engaged in the
development of the G+® technology.
 
Management carried out an impairment test on the goodwi l l  aris ing from the acquis i3on of Setcar S.A. in 2019. The cash-genera3ng unit (CGU)
identi fied for the purposes  of this  assessment is  Setcar S.A. i tsel f, with a  carrying amount of €2.3 mi l l ion as  at 31 December 2024.
 
The recoverable amount was  determined us ing the value in use method, based on projected cash flows and a terminal  value, discounted us ing a
pre-tax rate that reflects  market condi3ons and the risk profile of the CGU. Given the evolving nature of Setcar's  opera3ons, as  the Group is  s3l l
developing i ts  products , the impairment test i s  subject to a  high degree of estimation uncertainty.
 
As  an addi3onal  cross-check, management a lso cons idered indica3ve valua3on ranges  derived from comparable company market mul3ples
which provided further comfort on the reasonableness  of the value in use assessment.
 
Separately, the Group also performed an impairment review of i ts  intangible asset porZol io in accordance with I AS 36. For revenue-genera3ng
CGUs such as  Tex3les  and Environmental , a  value in use approach was appl ied. The projected cash flows supported the carrying values, and no
impairment was  recognised.



impairment was  recognised.
 
For CGUs s3l l  in early-stage development (such as  Paints , BaTeries  and O utsole), management cons idered recent capital ised investments ,
ongoing commercial  discuss ions  with both prospec3ve and exis3ng customers, and the strategic relevance of these ver3cals . Based on this
qual i tative and forward-looking assessment, no impairment was  recognised for these CGUs either.
 
The Group wrote off certain intangible assets , resul3ng in a  total  impairment charge of €69,444. These write-downs were made due to the lack of
sufficiently tangible evidence to support near-term revenue generation.
The impairment review reflects  the Group's  trans i3on towards  a  commercial ly driven phase, where investments  are increas ingly l inked to
monetisable appl ications. Management continues  to monitor asset recoverabi l i ty with prudence and discipl ine.
 
12. Property, plant and equipment

 
 
 

 
Industrial Equipment

 
Computer
Equipment

 
Office
Equipment

 
P lant &
Machinery

 
Land

 
ROU
Assets

 
Under
Const.

 
Total

Cost € € € € € € € €
31/12/2022 2,011,729 87,093 141,151 4,743,296 587,723 779,128 2,362 8,352,482
Additions 107,973 1,787 4,181 22,455 - - 134,885 271,281
Disposal (64,123) - (1,964) (91,897) - - (2,362) (160,346)
FX trans. diff. (13,238) - (540) (17,381) (3,214) - (764) (35,137)

 31/12/2023 2,042,341 88,880 142,828 4,656,473 584,509 779,128 134,121 8,428,280
Additions 45,895 10,741 7,685 36,226 - 450,285 - 550,832
Impairment - - - - - - (134,121) (134,121)
Disposal (4,515) - - (6,883) - - - (11,398)
FX trans. diff. 246 - 15 318 59 - - 638
 31/12/2024 2,083,967 99,621 150,528 4,686,134 584,568 1,229,413 - 8,834,231
         
         
Depreciation € € € € € € € €
31/12/2022   1,064,915 61,739 137,085 2,865,668 - 361,924 - 4,491,331
Depreciation   283,337 9,795 20,814 407,183 - 96,482 - 817,611
Reclass 31,842 - (31,842) - - - - -
Disposal      (64,057) - (1,964) (84,437) - - - (150,458)
FX trans. diff     (8,942)                   - (451) (11,620) - - - (21,013)
31/12/2023   1,307,095 71,534 123,642 3,176,794 - 458,406 - 5,137,471
Depreciation   294,612 9,163 17,139 323,868 - 96,482 - 741,264
Disposal           (188) - - (6,883) - - - (7,071)
FX trans. diff        185 - 13 236 - - - 434
31/12/2024 1,601,704 80,697 140,794 3,494,015 - 554,888 - 5,872,098

 
Carrying amounts
31/12/2022      946,814 25,354 4,066 1,877,628 587,723 417,204 2,362 3,861,151
31/12/2023      735,246 17,346 19,186 1,479,679 584,509 320,722 134,121 3,290,809
31/12/2024      482,263 18,924 9,734 1,192,119 584,568 674,525 - 2,962,133

 
The balance of Assets  Under Construc3on at 31 December 2023 corresponded to engineering development costs  incurred by Setcar in connec3on
with the Liberty Galați  project. Due to the customer's  financial  difficul3es  and the temporary suspension of the project, these assets  were ful ly
impaired during 2024 and derecognised from the statement of financial  pos ition.
 
Asset held under financial  leases  with a  net book value of €700,600 are included in the above table within Industria l  equipment and ROU.
 
The replacement cost of a l l  property, plant and equipment exceeds i ts  carrying value. No l iabi l i ty for the restora3on of land has  been recorded
because i t i s  expected to be used in perpetuity.
 
13. Investments in subsidiaries
Detai ls  of the Company's  subs idiaries  as  at 31 December 2024 are as  fol lows:
 

   Shareholding

Subsidiaries Country Principal activity 2024 2023
Directa P lus
S.p.a. Ita ly P roducer and suppl ier of graphene-based materia ls  and

related products 100% 100%

Directa Tex3le
Solutions  S.r.l . Ita ly Commercial ise tex3le membranes, including graphene-

based technical  and high-performance membranes 73.5% 73.5%

Setcar S.A. Romania Waste management and decontamina3on services
business 99.95% 51%

 
I n May 2024, Directa P lus  S.p.A. acquired an addi3onal  48.96% stake in Setcar S.A. from GVC I nvestment Company Ltd., increas ing i ts
shareholding from 50.99% to 99.95%. The total  cons ideration for the acquis i tion amounted to €1.5 mi l l ion.
 
The objec3ve of the acquis i3on is  to strengthen Directa P lus ' control  over the subs idiary and to maximize the value crea3on poten3al  enabled by
its  Grafysorber® technology.
 
As  Setcar was  a lready ful ly consol idated in the Group's  financial  s tatements  prior to the transac3on, due to Directa P lus 's  exis3ng majori ty
control , the acquis i3on of the addi3onal  interest has  not been capital ised. The cons idera3on paid has  been accounted for as  an equity
transaction, with the di fference between the purchase price and the carrying amount of the non-control l ing interest recognised directly in equity.
 
Subsidiaries Place of Business Registered Office and place of business

Directa Plus  S.p.a. Ita ly Via Cavour 2, Lomazzo (CO) Ita ly
Directa Texti le
Solutions  S.r.l . Ita ly Via Cavour 2, Lomazzo (CO) Ita ly

Setcar S.A. Romania Str. Gradini i  Publ ice 6, Brai la  Romania
 
The Company's  investment as  capital  contributions  in Directa Plus  Spa are as  fol lows:



The Company's  investment as  capital  contributions  in Directa Plus  Spa are as  fol lows:
 Directa Spa

At 31 December 2022 30,260,336
Additions 1,964,800
Impairment Loss (13,602,359)
At 31 December 2023 18,622,777
Additions 3,585,000
Impairment Loss   (16,875,963)
At 31 December 2024 5,331,814
 
The Company finances  the ac3vi3es  of Directa P lus  SpA through regular capital  contribu3ons. The increase compared to the previous  year is
mainly due to cash requirements  related to the acquis i tion of the minori ty interests  in Setcar.
 
During the year an impairment loss  on the investment held by Directa P lus  plc in Directa P lus  S.p.A. for a  total  amount of €16.9 mi l l ion was
recognised fol lowing the iden3fica3on of an impairment trigger. The impairment was  deemed necessary due to the decl ine in the Group's  market
capital isation over the past 12 months.
 
14. Trade and other receivables
 
Current Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €

Account
receivables

1,227,797 3,645,064 - -

Tax receivables 439,671 482,800 29,953 24,489
Other receivables 268,726 268,884 68,688 71,776
Total 1,936,194 4,396,748 98,641 96,265
 
 
Non-current Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €

Other
receivables

3,998 162,923 - -

Total 3,998 162,923 - -
 
Group account receivables  of €1,227,797 are mainly composed by four major cl ients , covering 60% of the total  amount.
 
Group Tax Receivables  are composed of I ta l ian VAT receivables  of €244,035, UK  VAT receivables  of €29,953, Romanian VAT receivables  of
€62,334, RDEC Tax Credit receivables  of €70,237 and other Ita l ian Tax receivables  of €11,670.
 
Other receivables  are mainly composed of governments  grants  for €142,494 and prepayments  for €49,399.
 
As  at 31 December 2024 the ageing of account receivables  was:
 
 
Provision for expected credit losses
(ECL)

2024 2023

€ €
Opening balance 460,894 15,181
Net increase in provis ion 63,906 445,713
Closing balance 524,800 460,894
 
The Group recognises  a  loss  a l lowance for expected credit losses  on trade receivables . As  at 31 December 2024 the cumula3ve provis ion for
expected credit losses  amounted to €524,800 (2023: €460,894). The increase primari ly reflects  addi3onal  provis ioning against overdue
receivables  of Setcar, where the counterparties  are experiencing financial  distress .
 
Subsequent to the year-end and prior to the approval  of these financial  s tatements , Setcar successful ly col lected €66k from a customer whose
balance had been ful ly provis ioned at year-end due to ini3al  doubts  over recoverabi l i ty. Nevertheless , management has  decided to maintain the
provis ion in ful l , adopting a  prudent approach to reflect continued uncertainty and potentia l  credit risk during the course of 2025.
 
15. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
 

2024 2023
€ €

Deferred tax l iabi l i ties 7,589 59,647
Deferred tax (assets) (7,589) (59,647)
Total - -
 
Tax losses  are carried forward and not recognised as  a  deferred tax asset due to the uncertainty regarding generating future taxable profi ts .
 
The deferred tax l iabi l i ties  arise from the capital isation of development costs  and defined benefi t scheme are detai led below:
 

2024 2023

 € €

Deferred tax l iabi l i ties  Cost Capital ized 7,589 27,929
Deferred tax l iabi l i ties  Other 8,254 (363)
Deferred tax l iabi l i ties  aris ing from acquis i tion - 31,718
Deferred tax assets  - incl . consol idation adjustment (15,843) (59,284)
Total - -
 
16. Cash and cash equivalents
 

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €

Cash at bank 4,978,110 2,389,687       4,128,402       1,024,286
Cash in hand 3,028 3,616 - -
Total 4,981,138 2,393,303 4,128,402 1,024,286
 
17. Equity



17. Equity
 
Share Capital

 
Number
of ordinary shares Share capital (€)

   
At 31 December 2022 66,057,649 205,469
At 31 December 2023 66,057,649 205,469
Share issue on 28 June * 14,954,048 44,144
Share issue on 1 July * 23,407,058 69,004
At 31 December 2024 104,418,755 318,617
 
* On 28 June and 1 July 2024, 38,361,106 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £0.0025 each were issued as part of Company's capital raise.
 
Share Premium

 Share

In euro premium
At 31 December 2022 39,181,789

Shares  issued -

At 31 December 2023 39,181,789

Shares  issued 8,033,534

Expenditure relating to the rais ing of shares (646,302)

At 31 December 2024 46,569,021

 
*O n 28 June and 1 July 2024, 38,361,106 ordinary shares were issued as part of Company's capital raise at a price of £0.18 each. The Company
recognised for €8,033,534 of share premium before expenditure related to the issue of the shares.
 
Share capital
 
Financial  instruments  issued by the Directa P lus  Group are treated as  equity only to the extent that they do not meet the defini3on of a  financial
l iabi l i ty. The Directa Plus  Group's  ordinary shares  are class i fied as  equity instruments .
 
Share premium
 
To the extent that the company's  ordinary shares  are issued for a  cons idera3on greater than the nominal  value of those shares  (in the case of the
company, £0.0025 per share), the excess  is  deemed Share P remium. Costs  directly associated with the issuing of those shares  are deducted from
the share premium account, subject to local  s tatutory guidel ines.
 
Foreign currency translation reserve
 
Exchange di fferences  resulting from the consol idation process  of Setcar are recognised in the trans lation reserve for an amount of €80,356.
 
Non- controlling interest

Non-control l ing interest refers  to the minori ty shareholders  of the company who own less  than 50% of the overal l  share capital .
 
As  of 31 December 2024, non-control l ing interest i s  composed by 0.05% of Setcar S.A. and 26.46% of Directa Texti le Solutions  Srl .
 
18. Loans and borrowings
 

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €

Non-current loans  and borrowings 853,165 1,528,108 - -
Current loans  and borrowings 852,253 742,904 - -
Total 1,705,418 2,271,012 - -
 
 

In euro 2024 Current Non-
current

Repayment Interest rate

Bank of Trans i lvania 361,849 241,233 120,616 36-months Variable 6.22% RO BO R 3M +
2,5%/year

Bank of Trans i lvania
IMM INV

207,826 113,322 94,504 60-months Variable 6.22% RO BO R 3M +2.5%
MARJA BANK

LINIE CREDIT IMM- Invest
Plus  BRD - revolving

172,896 172,896 - - -

Bank of Trans i lvania
IMM INVEST PROIECT
POIM inv

22,415 12,226 10,189 36-Months Variable 6.5 % Robor
6M+3.65%/Year

Intesa San Paolo 132,760 75,572 57,188 72-months 1.5%/year + EURIBOR 3M

Intesa San Paolo 9,481 6,306 3,175 72-months 1.5%/year + EURIBOR 3M

Intesa San Paolo 314,737 124,995 189,742 72-months 1.5%/year + EURIBOR 3M

Banca Popolare di
Sondrio

296,211 103,709 192,502 72-months 1.5%/year + EURIBOR 3M

Ricerca e Innova
(Finlombarda)

185,250 - 185,250 84-months -

 

Certain debt faci l i3es  contracted by Setcar under the I M M I nvest programme are secured by specific assets  acquired through these loans,
including transport and technical  equipment, which serve as  col lateral . I n addi3on, the loans  held by Directa P lus  and Directa Tex3le Solu3ons
are covered by publ ic guarantees  ranging from 80% to 90%, issued by the Ita l ian government under state-backed credit support schemes.
 



 
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
 
 Cash flows Non-cash flows
 1 January 24 Capital

repayments
Liabilities
acquired

Accrued
interests

Loan
conversion
into equity
 

31 December 24

 € € € € € €
Borrowings 2,271,012 (1,738,490) 1,172,896 - - 1,705,418
Total 2,271,012 (1,738,490) 1,172,896 - - 1,705,418
 

The Liabi l i3es  acquired and the Capital  repayments  include the €1 mi l l ion loan from Nant Capital  to support the acquis i3on of Setcar, ful ly
repaid in the year, as  explained in note 26.

Net debt reconciliation

2024 2023

 € €

Loans and borrowings 1,705,418 2,271,012
Lease l iabi l i ties 624,136 389,565
Less: cash and cash equivalent (4,981,138) (2,393,303)
Net Debt (2,651,584) 267,274

Total  equity 7,150,609 6,582,124

Debt to capital ratio (%) (37.08%) 4.06%
 

19. Leases liabilities
The fol lowing table detai ls  the movement in the Group's  lease obl igations  for the period ended 31 December 2024:
 
   2024 2023
  € €
Non-current lease l iabi l i ties 448,195 183,056
Current lease l iabi l i ties 175,941 206,509
Total  624,136 389,565
 
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from leasing activities

 Cash flows Non-cash flows
 1 January 24 Capital

repayments
Leasing
acquired

Accrued
interests

31 December 24  

 € € € € €  

Leas ing 389,565 (215,714) 450,285 - 624,136  

Total 389,565 (215,714) 450,285 - 624,136  

 
20. Employee benefits provision
  2024 2023
  € €
Employee benefi ts 207,633 357,520
Total  207,633 357,520

 
P rovis ions  for benefits  upon termina3on of employment primari ly related to provis ions  accrued by I ta l ian companies  for employee re3rement,
determined us ing actuaria l  techniques  and regulated by Ar3cle 2120 of the I ta l ian C ivi l  code.  The benefit is  paid upon re3rement as  a  lump sum,
the amount of which corresponds to the total  of the provis ions  accrued during the employees ' service period based on payrol l  costs  as  revalued
un3l  re3rement.  Fol lowing the changes  in the law regime, from January 1, 2007, accruing benefits  have been contribu3ng to a  pens ion fund or a
treasury fund held by the I ta l ian administra3on for post-re3rement benefits  (I NP S).  For companies  with less  than 50 employees  i t wi l l  be poss ible
to con3nue this  scheme as  in previous  years .  Therefore, contribu3ons of future TF R provis ions  to pens ion funds  or the I NP S treasury fund
determines  that these amounts  wi l l  be treated in accordance to a  defined contribu3on scheme, not subject to actuaria l  evalua3on. Amounts
already accrued before 1 January 2007 continue to be accounted for a  defined benefi t plan and to be assessed on actuaria l  assumptions.
 
The breakdown for 2023 and 2024 is  as  fol lows:
 In Euro

Amount at 31 December 2022 554,444

Service cost 14,170

Interest cost 16,125

Actuaria l  losses 10,769

Benefi t paid (237,988)

Amount at 31 December 2023 357,520

Service cost 42,892

Interest cost 12,863

Actuaria l  losses (18,154)

Benefi t paid (187,488)

Amount at 31 December 2024 207,633
 
Variables analysis
Detai led below are the key variables  appl ied in the valuation of the defined benefi t plan l iabi l i ties . 
 

2024 2023
Annual  rate interest 3.50% 3.30%
Annual  rate inflation 2.00% 2.10%



Annual  rate inflation 2.00% 2.10%
Annual  increase TFR 7.41% 7.41%
Tax on revaluation 17.00% 17.00%
Social  contribution 0.50% 0.50%
Increase salary male 2.20% 2.20%
Increase salary female 2.10% 2.10%
Rate of turnover male 2.00% 2.00%
Rate of turnover female 1.80% 1.80%
 
Sensitivity analysis
Detai led below are tables  showing the impact of movements  on key variables:
 
Actuarial hypothesis - 2024

 
Decrease 10%

 
Increase 10%

 Variation  Variation
Rate DBO € Rate DBO €

Increase salary Male 1.95% (2,598) 2.45% 2,722
Female 1.85% 2.35%

Turnover Male 1.00% (13,526) 3.00% 11,591
Female 0.80% 2.80%

Interest rate 3.25% 6,421 3.75%         (6,107)
Inflation rate 1.75%    (4,890) 2.25%            (4,890)

 
21. Trade and Other payables
 
Non-current             Group Company
 2024 2023 2024 2023
 € € € €
Other payables - 64,014 - -
Total - 64,014 - -
 
 
Current        Group Company
 2024 2023 2024 2023
 € € € €
Trade payables 1,308,762 1,693,569 48,762 1,846
Employment costs 163,805 184,838 - -
Other payables 558,499 978,428 127,310 124,563
Total 2,031,066 2,856,835 176,072 126,409
 
22. Provision
 
 
Current

Group Company

 2024 2023 2024 2023
 € € € €
Provis ion 20,305 40,847 - -
Total 20,305 40,847 - -
 
The 2023 provis ion of €40,847 was related to the expected future losses  incurred on an onerous  long-term contract in Laos. The project was
completed in the year and the provis ion released.
 
The 2024 provis ion mainly reflects  a  tax risk provis ion recorded by Setcar in Romania.
 
23. Financial instruments
 
Financial risk management
The Group's  bus iness  activi ties  expose the Group to the fol lowing financial  ri sks :
 
a)    Market risk

Market risk arises  from the Group's  use of interest bearing, tradable and foreign currency financial  instruments . I t i s  the risk that the fa ir
value of future cash flow of a  financial  instrument wi l l  fluctuate because of changes  in interest rates  or foreign exchange rates . As  at 31
December 2024 the Group is  exposed to variable interest rate risk for the loans  issued by Setcar and by Directa P lus  SpA under the I ta l ian
Government Covid-19 Recovery P lan. Despite the rise in interest rates  by the Central  Banks  over the recent months, those loans, being 90%
guaranteed by the I ta l ian Government, bear a  rela3vely low interest rate (1.5% + EUR I BO R) and, i f the interest rate had increased or decreased
by 200 bas is  points  during the year the reported loss  after taxation would not have been materia l ly di fferent to that reported.
 

b)    Capital Risk
The Group's  objec3ves  for managing capital  are to safeguard the Group's  abi l i ty to con3nue as  going concern, so that i t can con3nue to
provide returns  for shareholders  and benefits  for other stakeholders  and to provide an adequate return to shareholders  by pricing products
and services  commensurately with the level  of risk. There were no changes  in the Group's  approach to capital  management during the year.
 

c)    Credit Risk
Credit risk i s  the risk of financial  loss  to the Group i f a  customer or counterparty to a  financial  instrument fa i ls  to meet i ts  contractual
obl igations. The Group's  credit risk i s  primari ly attributable to i ts  trade receivables  that the Company cons ider defaulted i f any instalment is
unpaid more than s ixty (60) days  past i ts  original  due date or where there is  evidence that identi fies  the debtor's  state of insolvency.
The Group's  cash and cash equivalents  and restricted cash are held with major financial  ins3tu3ons. The Group monitors  credit risk by
reviewing the credit qual i ty of the financial  insti tutions  that hold the cash and cash equivalents  and restricted cash.
 
The Group's  trade receivables  cons ist of receivables  for revenue mainly in I ta ly and Romania. Management bel ieves  that the Group's
exposure to credit risk i s  manageable and currently the Group's  standard payment terms are 30 to 60 days  from date of invoice are largely
met from the cl ients . At the end of the period, 66% of account receivables  have an ageing less  of 60 days  and refers  to orders  del ivered close
to the year end. As  at 31 December 2024 the Group recognised a cumulated bad debt provis ion for €524,800.
 
Every new customer is  internal ly analysed for creditworthiness  before the Group's  standard payment and del ivery terms and condi3ons are
offered. Advance payment usual ly appl ies  for the first order and the exposure to credit risk i s  approved and monitored on an ongoing bas is
individual ly for a l l  s igni ficant customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk i s  represented by the carrying amount of each financial  asset
in the statement of financial  pos ition. The Group does  not require col lateral  in respect of financial  assets .
 

d)    Exposure to credit risk



d)    Exposure to credit risk
 
Group Note 2024 2023
  € €
Trade receivables 14 1,227,797 3,645,064
Cash and cash equivalent 16 4,981,138 2,393,303
Total  6,208,935 6,038,367
 
The largest customer within trade receivables  accounts  for 29% of debtors . Management con3nual ly monitors  this  dependence on the largest
customers  and are continuing to develop the commercial  pipel ine to reduce this  dependence, spreading revenues across  a  variety of customers.
 
e)    Liquidity risk
I t i s  the risk that the Group wi l l  encounter difficulty in mee3ng i ts  financial  obl iga3ons as  they fa l l  due. Liquidity risk arises  from the Group's
management of working capital  and the finance charges  and principal  repayments  on i ts  debt instruments .  The Group manages  l iquidity risk by
maintaining adequate reserves  and banking faci l i3es  and by con3nuously monitoring forecast and actual  cash flows. The Board reviews
regularly the cash pos i3on to ensure there are sufficient resources  for working capital  requirements  and to meet the Group's  financial
commitments .
 
2024 Carrying amount Up to 1 year 1 -5 years
Financial liabilities € € €
Trade payables 1,308,762 1,308,762 -
Lease l iabi l i ties 624,136 175,941 448,195
Loans 1,705,418 852,253 853,165
Total 3,638,316 2,336,956 1,301,360

2023 Carrying amount Up to 1 year 1 -5 years
Financial liabilities € € €
Trade payables 1,693,569 1,693,569 -
Lease l iabi l i ties 389,565 206,509 183,056
Loans 2,271,012 742,904 1,528,108
Total 4,354,146 2,642,982 1,711,164
 
f)     Currency risk
The Group usual ly ra ises  money issuing shares  in pounds, i t fol lows that the Group usual ly holds  sterl ing bank accounts  as  result of capital
ra ise. Sterl ing bank accounts  are mainly used to manage expenses  of the Company (such as  UK  advisors , LS E fees  and costs  related to the Board)
in UK. The cash held in Sterl ing continues  to be subject to currency risk.
 EUR
Cash held in GBP 4,029,026
 
I f the exchange rate EUR/GBP  increase by 10% the impact on P &L would be a loss  equal  to €0.4 mi l l ion (i f decrease by 10% would be a profit
equal  to €0.4 mi l l ion).
 
The Group holds  accounts  a lso in other currency (such as  USD and RON) but just for bus iness  purposes  and for not materia l  amount.
 
Management constantly monitors  exchange rate fluctua3ons and remains  ready to implement appropriate measures  to mi3gate adverse trends,
should they arise.
 
24. Earnings per share
 

 
Change in number of
ordinary shares

Total number of
ordinary shares

Days Weighted number of
ordinary shares

 At 31 December 2023 - 66,057,649 365 66,057,649  

 Existing shares - 66,057,649 179 32,306,883  

 Issued on 28 June 2024 14,954,048 81,011,697 3 664,030  

 Issued on 1 July 2024 23,407,058 104,418,755 184 52,494,674  

 At 31 December 2024 38,361,106 104,418,755 366 85,465,587  

 
             Basic                 Diluted

  2024
€

2023
€

2024
€

2023
€

      
Loss  attributable to the owners  of the Parent (5,140,237) (3,856,103) (5,140,237) (3,856,103)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  in
issue during the year

 
85,465,588

 
66,057,649

 
-

 
-

Ful ly di luted average number of ordinary shares
during the year

 
-

 
-

 
86,493,771

 
67,052,006

Loss per share (0.06) (0.06) (0.06) (0.06)
 
The effect of anti -di lutive potentia l  ordinary shares  is  ignored in calculating the di luted loss  per share.
 
25. Share Schemes
 
The 2020 Employees ' Share Scheme is  administered by the Remuneration Committee.

The Directors  are enti tled to grant awards  over up to 10 per cent of the Company's  i ssued share capital  from time to time.

Under the 2020 Employees ' Share Scheme, in November 2020 1,801,000 op3ons over O rdinary Shares  were granted to key employees  and
addi3onal  150,000 op3ons were granted to an Execu3ve Director in June 2021 under the same Scheme. As  of 31 December 2024, there are not
any outstanding Ordinary Shares  awards.

At the date of this  report, an addi3onal  331,046 share op3ons had vested in 2020 under the 2016 Employees ' and NED Share Schemes that have
not yet been exercised.

The main terms of the 2020 Employee's  Share Schemes are set out below:

Eligibility

Al l  persons  who at the date on which an award is  granted under the Employees ' Share Scheme are employees  (or employees  who are a lso office-
holders) of a  member of the Group and are el igible to par3cipate. The Remunera3on CommiTee decides  to whom awards  are granted under the
Employees ' Share Scheme, the number of O rdinary Shares  subject to an award, the exercise date(s) (subject to the below) and the condi3ons



Employees ' Share Scheme, the number of O rdinary Shares  subject to an award, the exercise date(s) (subject to the below) and the condi3ons
which must be achieved for the award to be exercisable.

Types of Award

Awards  granted under the Employees ' Share Scheme have the form of market value share op3ons. "Market value share op3ons" are share op3ons
with an exercise price equal  to the market value of a  share at the date of grant. The right to exercise the award is  general ly dependent upon the
par3cipant remaining an officer or employee throughout the performance period. This  i s  subject to the good leaver provis ions. Awards  granted
under the Share Schemes wi l l  not be pens ionable.

Individual Limits

The value of O rdinary Shares  over which an employee or Execu3ve Director may be granted awards  under the Employees ' Share Scheme in any
financial  year of the Company shal l  not exceed 200 per cent of his  bas ic rate of salary at the date of grant.

Variation of share capital

Awards  granted under the Share Schemes may be adjusted to reflect variations  in the Company's  share capital .

Vesting of awards

O utstanding awards  vest over three years  in equal  one third tranches  on each anniversary of the grant date to the extent that the market-based
performance targets  have been met. Vested awards  may general ly be exercised between the third and tenth anniversaries  from the date of grant.
75% of vested shares  can be exercised after the third anniversary, whi le the remaining 25% from the fourth.

The inputs  to the Monte-Carlo s imulation were as  fol lows:

 Monte-Carlo simulation
  

  
Market value shares (1st
granting Nov20)

Market value shares (2nd
granting Jun21)

Share price 60p 127p

Exercise price 66p 118.20p

Expected volati l i ty 54% 61%

Compounded Risk-Free Interest Rate 0.10% 0.16%

Expected l i fe 6 years 6 years

Number of options  issued* 1,801,000 150,000

 
*Number of op3ons issued is  an input of the Monte-Carlo s imula3on and refers  to the total  op3ons granted by the Company in November 2020
and June 2021. This  i s  not representing any option issued in the period.
 
As  of December 2024, there are not any outstanding awards  to vest. Detai ls  are as  fol lows:

 2022 2023 2024
Outstanding at start of period 1,688,000 1,503,000 150,000
Granted during the period - - -
Cancel led during the period -185,000 -358,000 -
Expired during the period - -331,669 -116,194
Vested during the period - -663,331 -33,806
Outstanding at end of period 1,503,000 150,000 -
Exercisable period option price 66p-118p 66p-118p 66p-118p
Grant date 12 Nov 20 - 15 Jun 21 12 Nov 20 - 15 Jun 21 12 Nov 20 - 15 Jun 21
Exercisable date 12 Nov 23 - 15 Jun 24 12 Nov 23 - 15 Jun 24 12 Nov 23 - 15 Jun 24
 
Share op3ons expired over the period refer to those performance share op3ons that did not meet the performance cri teria  on the third
anniversary of their granting. Vested share options  are Market share options  that met the cri teria  on each anniversary.
 
26. Related parties
I n March 2024, Directa P lus  received a financing faci l i ty of €1 mi l l ion from Nant Capital  LLC, which was ful ly repaid in July 2024, a long with
interest of €19,640 and the reimbursement of 60,000 in legal  fees .

Transac3ons between the Company and i ts  subs idiaries , which are related par3es, have been el iminated on consol ida3on and are not disclosed
in this  note.
 
Remuneration of key management personnel
The below figures  represent remunera3on of key management personnel  for the Group, who are part of the Execu3ve Management Team but not
part of the Board of Directa P lus  P LC. The remunera3on is  set out below in aggregate for each of the categories  specified in I AS 24 'Related Party
Disclosures '.
 

2024 2023
€ €

Short-term employee benefi ts  and fees 68,738 129,065

Social  securi ty costs 22,884 39,837

91,622 168,902
 
The decrease in 2024 is  mainly explained by the layoff of an executive manager during the year.
For Directors  remuneration please see Director's  Remuneration Report.
 
27. Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
The group has  the fol lowing contingent l iabi l i ties  relating to bank guarantees  on operating lease arrangements  and government grants .
 
 2024

€
2023
€

Bank guarantees 31,995 38,435

28. Post balance sheet events

No s igni ficant events  have occurred after the reporting date that would require disclosure in these financial  s tatements .
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